

Walden University Scholar Works

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2014

Talent Retention in Organizations Facing Staff Reductions via Layoffs

George Edward Lightfoot Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations

Part of the <u>Business Administration</u>, <u>Management</u>, and <u>Operations Commons</u>, <u>Management Sciences and Quantitative Methods Commons</u>, and the <u>Vocational Rehabilitation Counseling Commons</u>

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection at ScholarWorks. It has been accepted for inclusion in Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks. For more information, please contact ScholarWorks@waldenu.edu.

Walden University

College of Management and Technology

This is to certify that the doctoral study by

George Lightfoot

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee

Dr. Dorothy Hanson, Committee Chairperson, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Dr. Anne Davis, Committee Member, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Dr. Lionel de Souza, University Reviewer, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Chief Academic Officer Eric Riedel, Ph.D.

Walden University 2015

Abstract

Talent Retention in Organizations Facing Staff Reductions via Layoffs

by

George Edward Lightfoot

MS, Western Governors University, 2009
BS, University Of Wisconsin-Stevens Point, 2004

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Business Administration

Walden University

February 2015

Abstract

High voluntary attrition threatens the future of downsizing organizations. The purpose of this phenomenological study was to explore how employee layoff announcements reduces the perception of organizational commitment to experienced, skilled workers in central Wisconsin. The conceptual framework integrated stress response theories including Cannon's cognitive activation theory of stress. Face-to-face interviews were conducted with 20 journeyman level artisans who had witnessed the layoff process within 50 miles of Wausau Wisconsin. These interviews were analyzed via the modified van Kaam method to code, cluster, and group the findings into significant themes. Nine themes emerged from the analyses suggesting layoff implementation strategies might reduce voluntary employee attrition. Among these 9 themes, job insecurity and mental and emotional stressors were the most prominent. A third theme, employee entitativity, defined as when members of a group share similar attributes and seen more readily as a distinct entity than as individuals, also emerged. These themes may be associated with employee voluntary attrition. Improving employee understanding of the layoff process might increase employee trust in leadership decisions, reduce voluntary attrition, increase knowledge retention, and improve organizational economic success. Employees who are equipped to endure the layoff process may suffer less stress, conceivably reducing the likelihood of drug, alcohol, and family abuse and their related social stressors.

Talent Retention in Organizations Facing Staff Reductions via Layoffs

by

George Edward Lightfoot

MS, Western Governors University, 2009
BS, University Of Wisconsin-Stevens Point, 2004

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Business Administration

Walden University

February 2015

Dedication

I dedicate this research to my mother, Lillie Lightfoot. Thanks for instilling in me the belief that nothing good comes easy and that there is no shame in hard work. I thank my family, who refuse to take any excuse for me not meeting a deadline, no matter how many hours I worked. You all have always been my greatest motivation to do the best I can. To my long time shift partner, Dimitri Grammatikopoulos, thanks for helping me stay focused. Finally yet importantly, I thank all those, who supported and challenged me to be more than okay.

Acknowledgments

First and foremost, I thank my committee members, Dr. Dorothy Hanson, Dr. Anne Davis, and Dr. Lionel de Souza, I thank you for your support, and wisdom throughout this process. I thank the entire Walden University staff for their professional advice and backing. Lastly, I thank Dr. Freda Turner for her continuous support throughout this entire process

Table of Contents

Section 1: Foundation of the Study	1
Background of the Problem	2
Problem Statement	6
Purpose Statement	6
Nature of the Study	7
Research Question	9
Interview Questions	9
Conceptual Framework	10
Definition of Terms	18
Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitations	20
Assumptions	20
Limitations	20
Delimitations	21
Significance of the Study	22
Contribution to Business Practice	22
Implications for Social Change	22
A Review of the Professional and Academic Literature	23
Organizational Change and Stress	25
Layoff Causes and Avoidance	28
Knowledge Retention	32
Leadership Roles and Relationships	36

Survivor Syndrome	41
Organizational Commitment and Job Insecurity	46
Organizational Trust and Perceived Fairness	50
Knowledge Retention and Post layoff Performance	52
Transition and Summary	54
Section 2: The Project	57
Purpose Statement	57
Role of the Researcher	58
Participants	59
Research Method and Design	61
Method	62
Research Design	63
Population and Sampling	66
Ethical Research	70
Data Collection	71
Instruments	71
Data Collection Technique	71
Data Organization Techniques	73
Data Analysis Technique	73
Reliability and Validity	78
Dependability/Reliability	79
Validity/Trustworthiness	79

Transition and Summary	82
Section 3: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Change	84
Overview of Study	85
Presentation of the Findings	86
Emergent Themes	88
Voluntary Attrition Mitigation	102
Applications to Professional Practice	103
Implications for Social Change	104
Recommendations for Action	105
Recommendations for Further Study	107
Reflections	108
Summary and Study Conclusions	108
References	110
Appendix A: Informed Consent Form	144
Appendix B: Interview Questions	146
Appendix C: Interview Protocol Form	147
Appendix D: Themes of Study	149
Appendix E: Letter of Cooperation	150
Curriculum Vitae	151

Section 1: Foundation of the Study

The intent of organizations' leaders downsizing through layoffs is to enhance their strategic positions by reducing the cost of doing business while retaining core competencies and desired skill sets of the surviving members of the downsized workgroups (Arce & Li, 2011). In this study, I explored layoff procedures through the lens of employees who were not subject to layoff. The findings may aid in reducing skilled employees' voluntary attrition from downsizing organizations by clarifying how layoff procedures affect employee organizational commitment and identify possible countermeasures.

The global economy demands greater efficiencies in competitive markets than in oligopolistic markets. Subsequently, organizations from all employment sectors may undergo some form of downsizing through layoffs in an attempt to remain viable in competitive markets (Kawai, 2011). Layoffs can reduce the cost of doing business but may yield less than desired results if not properly executed.

Surviving employees are integral to organizational success. If leaders of downsizing organizations are to achieve desired results of layoffs, surviving employees' organizational commitment must remain intact (Maertz, Wiley, LeRouge, & Campion, 2010; Malik & Ahmad, 2011); otherwise, employees whom leaders rely on to drive revitalization may leave, partly because layoffs can negatively affect workers' organizational commitment. Any loss of talent may minimize the expected benefits of layoffs. The intent in this study was to explore stressors that could lower employee

organizational commitment and identify processes that might reduce employee voluntary attrition following layoff procedures.

Background of the Problem

When faced with challenging economic conditions, organizations' leaders may alter operations to remain competitive. Globally, leaders of organizations in almost every industry use downsizing to maximize efficiencies, reduce operating costs and increase profits as part of strategic planning (Arce & Li, 2011; Day, Armenakis, Feild, & Norris, 2012; Mäkelä & Näsi, 2010). This practice of workforce reductions results in the layoff of millions of Americans annually (Hall, 2012), partly because organizational leaders can easily quantify labor costs, which transfer in a predictable and manageable manner to cost savings (Goldstein, 2012). However, the outcomes of implementing layoffs are inconsistent at best (Iverson & Zatzick, 2011; Trevor & Nyberg, 2008). Leaders of organizations who rely on layoffs as part of a strategic direction may experience more damaging than beneficial results.

Downsizing efforts may jeopardize relationships between organizations' leaders and employees. Past researchers demonstrated that some organizations' leaders fail to achieve increased efficiencies, production, and profits often associated with downsizing (Mitchell, Schaap, & Groves, 2010; Muñoz-Bullón & Sánchez-Bueno, 2011; Norman, Butler, & Ranft, 2012). The failure to meet organizational expectations after layoffs may stem from a loss of tacit knowledge, including process specifics, compliance requirements, and system efficiencies.

Numerous researchers have dedicated studies to layoff victims and retained survivors (Baruch & Hind, 1999; Reinardy, 2011; van Dierendonck & Jacobs, 2012). Using the findings from these studies, business leaders could develop strategies that mitigate the adverse effects of survivor syndrome and maintain organizational commitment (Baruch & Hind, 1999; Datta, Guthrie, Basuil, & Pandey, 2010; van Dierendonck & Jacobs, 2012). Some researchers have demonstrated that several companies' earnings and employee productivity declined following layoffs (Iskander & Lowe, 2010; Iverson & Zatzick, 2011; Kong, Chadee, & Raman, 2013). Few researchers focused on layoff survivors who resign voluntarily.

Organizational human resources (HR) professionals can influence employees' reaction to change. Specifically, some HR practices may reduce voluntary resignation rates following organizational change (Batt & Colvin, 2011). Trevor and Nyberg (2008) investigated potential causal relationships among layoffs, voluntary turnover, and the need for appropriate HR practices to mitigate associated adverse behavior of layoff survivors. Leaders of organizations who offer opportunities for career development may suffer fewer voluntary turnovers of employees than organizations' leaders who offer few opportunities for career planning (Klehe, Zikic, Van Vianen, & De Pater, 2011). Trevor and Nyberg examined how HR practices influence employees' perceptions of job embeddedness and procedural justice. In their findings, Trevor and Nyberg showed there might be voluntary attrition from organizations following downsizing as survivors analyze the benefits of remaining with their current employer relative to the expected benefits of alternate employment. Trevor and Nyberg also posited that leaders of

organizations should consider how understaffing, inefficiencies, and replacement costs might lead to the failure of downsizing strategies. In their study, Klehe, Zikic, Van Vianen, and De Pater (2011) demonstrated organizations tend to underperform following incidents of voluntary attrition. If HR professionals instituted practices that encouraged employee training, career planning, and advancement opportunities for employees after downsizing, voluntary attrition might decline in frequency (Klehe et al., 2011; Kwon, Chung, Roh, Chadwick, & Lawler, 2012). Findings from the studies of Klehe et al. and Kwon, Chung, Roh, Chadwick, and Lawler (2012) provided insight into the costs to leaders of organizations following voluntary attrition, but did not address in depth the motivating factors for employee voluntary turnover. Trevor and Nyberg provided some assistance in determining if survivors might leave downsizing organizations, but did not address what stressors contributed to survivor voluntary attrition. Researchers must address this gap in current knowledge so organizations' leaders can avoid losing valued employees and knowledge by increasing organizational understanding of the effects of the layoff phenomenon.

The findings of this study might contribute to positive social change and could aid scholars, managers, and HR professionals to better understand and minimize the negative effects layoffs have on survivors. Business leaders might create an environment that reduces employee attrition from downsizing organizations with the use of this new awareness. The focus of this research study was to identify stressors leading to employee voluntary attrition following announcements of layoff initiatives. Understanding the causes of voluntary attrition of employees subsequent to layoff procedures may lead to

changes in the layoff process by business leaders and HR professionals that reduce the likelihood of employees leaving after such announcements.

Global economies, technological advances, and tighter profit margins continue to force leaders and employees of companies to do more with less, making this topic of post layoff worker attrition worthy of research. Layoffs as a business strategy will remain a viable option for businesses but not without some potential ill effects (Datta et al., 2010). Layoffs may increase employees' stress levels, heighten their leave intentions, and subsequently may lead to voluntary attrition (Malik, Ahmad, Saif, & Safwan, 2010). Employees who leave voluntarily after layoff procedures may critically affect future organizational success. Specifically, developing layoff initiatives that do not adversely affect members' organizational commitment may bolster the competitive position of downsizing organizations.

The inability of organizations' leaders to retain employees following layoffs may lead to negative effects, such as increased costs. These costs may consist of attracting and training replacement workers and reduced efficiencies (Sitlington & Marshall, 2011). In this study, I focused on the problem of talent retention after layoff procedures because there is little research available about the causes of survivors' voluntary attrition post layoff initiatives. Through this research, I may contribute to a better understanding by managers, human relations experts, and business school professors of how layoffs affect employee retention; expressly, this study's findings may provide justification to implement layoffs in a manner considerate of layoff survivors. Organizational leaders who successfully reduce the negative effects and stress of layoff initiatives may inspire

employees to remain with the downsizing organization, thus reducing voluntary attrition and minimizing the loss of the associated tacit knowledge of layoff survivors.

Problem Statement

Post layoff organizational success depends on surviving employees (Anis, Ijaz-Ur-Rehman, & Safwan, 2011; Cheese, 2010). According to the U.S. Department of Labor (2013), the total number of initial layoff claims during the months between June 2009 and May 2013 was more than 7.1 million. The general business problem is that organizational leaders may fail to improve organizational production and profits after downsizing (Norman, Butler, & Ranft, 2012). Retaining some of the more experienced employees and their knowledge about processes may have proven beneficial to the downsizing organizations' bottom-line. Retaining employee commitment subsequent to layoff procedures may prove vital if downsizing organizations are to prosper. The specific business problem is that organizational leaders often have little information about reducing employee voluntary attrition after layoff procedures, but prior to the final reduction in staff.

Purpose Statement

The purpose of this qualitative phenomenological study was to explore how organizational leaders may reduce employee voluntary attrition after layoff procedures, but prior to the final reduction in staff. The data for this study consists of participant interviews. Potential benefits of this study may include an evaluation of relationships between management and subordinates, a deeper understanding of which human relations policies mediate survivors' intent to leave, and clarity about factors that negatively affect

organizational commitment. The objective in the current study was to explore the psychological and emotional drivers that might lead to employee attrition.

I obtained information from 20 experienced employees of downsizing unionized industrial organizations within a 50-mile radius of Wausau, Wisconsin. In the current study, a purposeful sampling of former employees explained the issues contributing to their decision to voluntarily sever employment. All severances occurred after layoff procedures commenced, but prior to the attainment of final staff reduction goals. Data collection consisted of digital recordings of all face-to-face interviews and research notes.

Nature of the Study

As part of this study, I employed a qualitative phenomenological approach.

Investigators use the phenomenological design to capture the essence of human experience regarding a phenomenon from the perspective of participants (Tracy, 2010). Phenomenologists focus on people who share similar experiences or operate in similar environments and attempt to discover commonalities and shared meanings (Simon, 2006). The intent of this study was to extract meaning from the shared lived experiences of participants who voluntarily changed employers after layoff procedures; therefore, a phenomenological design was appropriate for this study.

Researchers often link quantitative studies to logical positivism (Portney & Watkins, 2009); because one cannot numerically measure the lived experience of others and verify its meaning, this approach was not the ideal design to address the research problem. Quantitative scholars strive to be objective and seek to reduce human actions to variables represented by numeric values in an attempt to gain generalizable data (Simon,

2006). The goal of identifying measures that organizational leaders could undertake to reduce voluntary employee attrition following layoff initiatives and prior to the final reduction in staff guided my selection of research method. In an effort to accomplish this goal, I explored the subjective realities of layoff survivors from the employees' perspectives, which are neither quantifiable nor generalizable.

Mixed methods designs are appropriate to collect, analyze, and interpret data in a single study or in a series of studies that investigate the same underlying phenomenon using both qualitative and quantitative tools (Leech & Onwuegbuzie, 2009). In the current study, I explored what stressors contribute to employee attrition following layoff procedures. The desired information did not require any quantitative research to achieve and thus a mixed methods design was not appropriate for this study. A qualitative method was appropriate for this study to determine the optimal approach for understanding the phenomenon from the lived experiences of the participants (Simon, 2006).

In this research study, I identified common characteristics and attributes of employees who lived through layoff procedures and voluntarily sought employment outside the downsizing organizations subsequent to the start of layoff procedures from their perspective of the layoff phenomenon. Qualitative research requires explorers to study a phenomenon in its natural environment gathering facts through extensive time in the field. The phenomenological design selected provided the most appropriate means to gather the desired information. Researchers can produce substantive qualitative studies

by using rigor with thick description, rich detail and establishing credibility through listening rather than telling (Tracy, 2010).

Ethnography, case study, narrative, or grounded theory designs, consisting of data collection on site or requiring long periods reviewing the actions of layoff survivors (Portney & Watkins, 2009), was not appropriate for this study because of limited time and resources available. My goal to explore common threads and trends of the lived experiences directly from the viewpoints of study participants required a qualitative, phenomenological approach (Simon, 2006); thus, a qualitative, phenomenological approach was the ideal means to summarize these perspectives. I used face-to-face interviews and captured the answers via electronic voice recording to depict the lived experiences of employees who have witnessed layoff procedures affecting other employees.

Research Question

The overarching research question that guided the study was: What information do organizational leaders need to reduce employee voluntary attrition after initiating layoff procedures but prior to the final reduction in staff?

Interview Questions

To gain a richer contextual understanding of the lived experience of the survivors,

I asked participants to recount their experiences during the period before the
announcement of layoffs and after the announcement of layoffs.

 In as much detail as possible, please recall a typical day at work prior to announcements of a possibility of layoffs.

- 2. In as much detail as possible, please recall the day of layoff announcements.
- 3. What thoughts crossed your mind about the organization as management made the announcements, and you realized who would be released?
- 4. In as much detail as possible, please recall the day at work, after the announcements of layoff, in which you decided to leave.
- 5. What factors led to your decision to leave?
- 6. What was the tipping point at which you decided to leave?
- 7. Based upon your experiences, what, if anything, could management have done to change your decision to resign voluntarily?

Conceptual Framework

The conceptual framework is the basis for any qualitative research study. I used seven basic concepts for the structure of this study. The seven concepts are cognitive activation of stress (CATS), expectancy theory, reasoned action theory (RA), psychological contract, organizational culture, entitativity, and survivor syndrome. The framework for this study comprises these seven concepts.

Cognitive Activation Theory of Stress (CATS)

This study included employing CATS as a basis for partial understanding of employee voluntary attrition following the announcement of layoff intentions. As presented by past scholars in the field (Cannon, 1932; Lazarus, 1966; Ursin & Eriksen, 2010), there are numerous theories regarding how humans respond to stress. Humans either may view stress as motivation for increased performance or decreased performance

(Coelho, Augusto, & Lages, 2011). The manner in which people respond to stress may depend on their perception the stressor.

How employees respond to the stress of layoff procedures, may contribute significantly to their organizational performance post layoffs. Based on the transactional model of stress, people categorize stressors as either a threat to their well-being, benign or a challenge (Lazarus, 1991). Humans can withstand stress in small doses, but over prolonged periods of exposure, or in large amounts, there will be a fracture in the psychological makeup (Cannon, 1932; Meurs & Perrewé, 2011). This fracture could lead to avoidance of the stressor by those affected (Ursin & Eriksen, 2010). Ursin and Eriksen (2004) found that people receive a threat alarm when something is missing in their perception of the expected reality, and this discrepancy elicits the triggering of some form of coping mechanism. A person could choose to cope by avoiding the negative effects of the stressor. The nature of avoidance employed can come in a myriad of forms, possibly ranging from reduced performance to voluntary attrition depending on the degree of stress realized.

The effect of stress may depend largely on how a person reacts to a particular stressor. People may view stress as a negative response to a bad situation, but this view may not always hold true. Building on previous scholars' work on CATS, Ursin and Eriksen (2004) showed that stress is a necessary part of human development. The stress response is an unspecific alarm that occurs when events are inconsistent with expected events (Ursin & Eriksen, 2004). This alarm, which represents discomfort with expectancy discrepancies, drives a person to seek a solution for the expectancy imbalance

with reality (Ursin & Eriksen, 2004). In the case of layoffs, the response to expectancy imbalance may contribute to an employee's avoidance of the stressor through either emotional or physical withdrawal from the organization. When an employee elects to withdraw physically from an established employer, it might indicate the person believes there to be no better option available.

During layoffs, employees may believe there is little they can do to secure their continued employment. How people handle stress is dependent on the belief that they can influence the outcome of a stressful situation (Ursin & Eriksen, 2010). According to CATS, if people believe a positive outcome is possible they will cope with the stressor by performing their job in a manner to avoid an unfavorable outcome (Ursin & Eriksen, 2010). This job performance could include assuming additional duties, working longer hours, or forgoing vacations to meet deadlines. A person's perception of control over the situation may influence the amount of effort exerted to change the outcome (Heneman & Schwab, 1972).

As a key element of the conceptual framework for this research study, the expectation was CATS would contribute to an improved understanding about employees' decisions to remain with a downsizing organization subsequent to layoff procedures. Ursin and Eriksen (2010) posited that when people believe there is no chance of influencing the outcome of a stressful event, they will concede to the stressor and wait for the event to take its natural progression without taking action. This act of concession may signal the end of any previously held beliefs and expectations about the organization.

Expectancy Theory

The amount of effort put forth by people may depend on the expectant reward of the effort (Hayibor, 2012; Van den Broeck, Vansteenkiste, Lens, & De Witte, 2010). When leaders of organizations announce layoff intentions, employees may feel helpless to affect their future with the organization positively, and employees may alter the amount of effort exerted for the employer. This reduction in effort may lead to lower performance by the employee. Expectancy of outcome may provide a basis to predict a person's motivation to perform in a certain manner to a given set of circumstances (Liao, Liu, & Pi, 2011; Ning & Jing, 2012). Understanding the expectations of members of a workgroup may prove beneficial to leaders of a downsizing organization by affording leaders the opportunity to address any perceived discrepancies in expectations prior to issues arising. During times of organizational change, employees may reduce their effort to contribute positively to the organization. Leaders may reduce the likelihood of employees underperforming by offering them hope for the future with the organization.

The expectancy theory provided a fundamental part of the conceptual framework for the study. According to the expectancy theory, a person's motivation to perform a job well might depend on the perceived value of the expected reward (Vroom, 1964). How successfully an organization's employees perform might depend on the proficient execution of job tasks after the announcement of layoffs. The amount of effort people exert towards completing a task may depend on their perception of their role in the process, ability, and motivation to accomplish the task (Hayibor, 2012; Heneman & Schwab, 1972; Van den Broeck, Vansteenkiste, Lens, & De Witte, 2010). These

elements of action and expected outcome are central to the expectancy theory, which may be a reliable predictor of job performance based on the belief that the person's actions will lead to desired outcomes (Hayibor, 2012; Heneman & Schwab, 1972; Renko, Kroeck, & Bullough, 2012)

The amount of stress experienced during times of downsizing may alter employees' expectations about advancement opportunities and long-term employment. This change in expectations may lead to a reduction in workers' performance. In the case of layoffs, employees who believe their employment to be less than permanent may feel less obligated to perform as compared to committed long-term employees (Silla, Gracia, Mañas, & Peiró, 2010). Expectancy of outcome may provide a basis to predict a person's motivation to perform in a certain manner to a given set of circumstances (Liao et al., 2011). Employees who are unsure of their future with the organization may experience more stress than victims of layoffs. Using CATS as a framework for exploration of employees' behavior, and the expectancy theory as a localized predictor of behavior, might provide insights about a person's motivation for leaving an organization after layoff procedures commence.

Reasoned Action Theory (RA) and Psychological Contracts

In this study, I explored the logic of exiting employees' decisions to leave a downsizing organization. The reasoned action (RA) theory of stress along with psychological contracts provided part of the conceptual framework. The theory of RA as presented by Ajzen and Fishbein (1977) demonstrated behavior predictability.

Understanding basic social behavior is crucial to gaining any useful insight about how these two theories relate to layoffs.

The announcement of major change initiatives can lead to the departure of workers who organizational leaders believed to be career employees. All social behavior is contingent on the actors' intentions and is predictable as long as the intent remains constant (Yousafzai, Foxall, & Pallister, 2010). Employees frequently believe there is an implied psychological contract between employer and employee and layoffs may represent a breach in this contract (Chaudhry, Coyle-Shapiro, & Wayne, 2011). Employees of downsizing organizations, whose intentions are to remain with the organization prior to the announcements of layoffs, may have a change in attitude following layoff procedures. This change in commitment may originate from the belief by employees that announcing layoff intentions is a violation to the implied psychological contract.

Exploring what stressors may cause employees' intentions to shift from staying with a downsizing organization to leaving the organization may provide insight for improving the effectiveness of downsizing policies. According to the RA theory the behavior of a person depends on two factors: attitude toward behavior, which is an internal or personal factor, and a person's perception of social pressures, termed subjective norm (Yousafzai et al., 2010). If the social pressures of a group are severe enough, the group may override the ability of a member to make a decision based on personal desires (Ajzen & Fishbein, 1977). Organizations with strong cultures that

provide employees with a sense of belonging may be less apt to lose members following layoff procedures.

Group Cohesion

The strength of the group may be more dependent on how closely the members relate to each other than how they perform as isolated entities. When other people recognize members of the group, more readily, as part of a group than as individuals, the group has achieved entitativity (Campbell, 1958). Campbell (1958) coined the term entitativity to explain why some groups develop into a tangible group as opposed to an aggregate of beings. This concept of entitativity provided another component for the conceptual framework of the research study.

Entitativity. In this research, study participants were electricians, millwrights, pipefitters, welders, and instrumentation technicians. All of these groups have specialized skills craft designation. There are three factors that determine entitativity and include proximity, similarity, and common fate (Campbell, 1958). Exploring a group of employees who share the same educational background, live in the same geographical location, and work for organizations undergoing layoffs satisfy all of these factors. When groups achieve entitativity, stimuli that affect, any member of the group will have an effect on the behavior of the remaining members. If layoffs affect any member of the group, entitativity may contribute to remaining employees' deciding to leave downsizing organizations.

Determining what level of importance the employee places on either staying or leaving the organization, and then comparing that to social pressure exerted by the group

was essential to understanding the level of group cohesiveness and entitativity. The amount of group influence may depend on the organizational culture, and the level of entitativity of the group (Rooney et al., 2010; Yousafzai et al., 2010). Employees may demonstrate more commitment to an organization with a culture based on trust and mutual respect than they would demonstrate to an organization whose leaders are less relationship oriented (Joo, 2012). People who are respectful of each other may exercise a level of honesty between each other and develop a sense of trust (Colquitt et al., 2013). The same concept of respect, trust, and honesty might apply between employer and employees.

Organizational Culture

Organizational success may depend on the level of trust employees have in the quality of decisions made by management, especially during times of change. The success of any organization that relies on human capital is dependent on the level of organizational trust and commitment of its employees (Spangenburg, 2012). Layoffs erode the trust between employees and employers, but the workgroup functioning as a cohesive, entitative group might mitigate some of the effects of layoffs (Vakola, 2013). Organizational leaders who invest in creating and nourishing a culture of trust and respect may benefit by employees demonstrating strong organizational commitment during times of change.

The implied contract between employer and employee can act as a major factor in employee loyalty and organizational commitment. This contract may have a profound effect on the amount of support and acceptance the group provides for change initiatives

(Chaudhry et al., 2011). During times of economic difficulty, retaining talent can prove challenging if employees believe the implied psychological contract is no longer valid (Olckers & du Plessis, 2012). In an established culture of trust and respect, employees may remain committed to the organization because of their belief that the sacrifices made by them, for the sake of the organization, will earn recompense sometime in the future (Farndale, Van Ruiten, Kelliher, & Hope-Hailey, 2011).

Survivor Syndrome

People, who feel guilty because they survived a traumatic experience while others did not, may suffer from *survivor syndrome* (Reinardy, 2011). I used the idea of survivor syndrome as part of the conceptual framework for this study. When employees experience layoffs and fear the possibility of additional layoffs, or feel guilty for surviving layoffs, they are subject to suffering from survivor syndrome (Appelbaum, Delage, Labib, & Gault, 1997). Survivor syndrome may contribute to reduced quality and output from layoff survivors (Smith, 2010; Ye, Cardon, & Rivera, 2012). In this study, my role included focusing on the experience of employees who voluntarily sought different employment after witnessing layoff procedures to understand what thoughts contributed to their decisions to change employers.

Definition of Terms

The following terms may enable knowledge transfer and establish uniform understanding of terms within this study.

Entitativity. Entitativity is the degree of having the nature of an entity, of having real existence (Campbell, 1958). The formation of a group whose members are more identified and recognized as a part of the group (entity) than as individuals.

General adaptation syndrome. General adaptation syndrome is a syndrome produced by diverse nocuous agents (Selye, 1936).

Job insecurity. Job insecurity refers to the belief of an unstable future for one's desired employment and the affected employees are powerless to resist the anticipated threat (Greenhalgh & Rosenblatt, 2010).

Layoffs. Layoffs are involuntary termination in which the sole reason for the employee's separation is the firm's motivation for a permanent reduction in the size of the workforce (Mitchell et al., 2010).

Organizational commitment. Organizational commitment is the effort, and energy employees expend in benefit to the organization (Spector, 2010).

Organizational (corporate) culture. Organizational culture is the beliefs, expectations, and values learned and shared by organizations' members (Spector, 2010).

Psychological contract. Psychological contract is the perceived reciprocal obligations that characterize a relationship between an employee and organizational entity (Eckerd, Hill, Boyer, Donohue, & Ward, 2013).

Stress response. Stress response is a general alarm triggered by a stressor in a homeostatic system, producing general and unspecific mental and physical reactions from one level of stimulation to a higher level of stimulation (Ursin & Eriksen, 2004).

Survivors. Survivors are the people who remain working at organizations that have recently had layoffs (Cotter & Fouad, 2012). In this study used interchangeably with those employees who possess ample seniority to remain with downsizing organizations, but elect to leave.

Tacit knowledge. Tacit knowledge is the knowledge in a person's head: their experience (Ipe, 2003).

Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitations

Assumptions

The first assumption of this study was that all participants of would answer the interview questions truthfully. A second assumption of this study was that purposeful sampling was an accepted and effective method of selecting interview candidates.

Limitations

Certain research limitations bind the results of the research exploration. The findings of this study covered a limited sector of the workforce consisting of experienced labor participants from downsizing organizations in the industrial sector located within a 50-mile radius of Wausau, Wisconsin. The findings of qualitative studies are not generalizable (Simon, 2006), so the results of this study may not apply to organizations that are outside the industrial sector of the economy or involve a less skilled workforce.

Although the intent in this study was to capture the lived experiences of employees who voluntarily left an employer following announcements of layoff procedures, participants could provide biased responses to research questions in recalling their experiences thus limiting this research study. To validate qualitative studies,

researchers must gather rich detail from the participants of the study (Tracy, 2010).

Participants unable to provide detailed information about the lived experiences because they cannot adequately remember the event may also limit this study.

In addition, researcher bias could act as a limitation of this study because experiences can distort the presentation of questions to participants (Chenail, 2011). The effects of researcher bias may contribute to participants' information distortion. In this study, the participant interview process prevented the issue of information distortion by asking questions based on personal experiences, without requesting opinions or leading the responses of participants in any way.

Delimitations

In this phenomenological study, I conducted interviews of 20 artisans from unionized industrial facilities located within a 50-mile radius of Wausau, Wisconsin.

Employees who chose to seek employment elsewhere after witnessing implementation of layoff procedures was a delimiting factor of this study. Only people over the age of 18 and who are not from any protected class or group participated in this study. I excluded employees not working in the industrial sector and not possessing marketable skills held by only a small fraction of the overall working population. The participants were journeyman level electricians, millwrights, pipefitters, welders, and instrumentation technicians. Criteria for participation included employees who completed a state indentured apprenticeship, were members of trade unions at the time of the lived experience, and elected voluntarily to change employers subsequent to the announcement of layoff procedures. My role included exploring how a skilled workforce responds to

layoff procedures. The focus of this study was to understand why employees voluntarily leave their employers subsequent to the implementation of layoff procedures.

Significance of the Study

Contribution to Business Practice

Understanding how layoff procedures affect employees of downsizing organizations may provide some benefit to all business sectors. The findings of this study may lead human resources managers, business executives, and midlevel managers to reevaluate the nature and effects of their organizational downsizing strategies and processes. Findings and recommendations from this research may inspire business leaders to develop and use alternate methods of downsizing during difficult business cycles that may reduce employees' voluntary attrition.

Implications for Social Change

The results of this study may provide insight into employees' perspectives following implementation of layoff procedures. Such insight may allow managers, HR professionals, and business executives to view the organizational workforce reduction process from an unbiased and analytical perspective. Obtaining such information about employees' response to layoff procedures may allow organizational leaders and HR professionals to equip their workforce with the requisite skills and knowledge to withstand the effects of layoffs, thus increasing employee retention and performance. Employees equipped to endure the layoff process might suffer less stress, thus reducing the likelihood of drug, alcohol, and family abuse (Keyes, Hatzenbuehler, & Hasin, 2011; Sinha, Shaham, & Heilig, 2011). Reducing various forms of abuse might lessen the

social demands associated with treating behavior stemming from the stress that can accompany the layoff process.

A Review of the Professional and Academic Literature

The purpose of this qualitative, phenomenological study was to understand how voluntarily separated employees perceived the layoff process and how those perceptions might affect employee organizational commitment. The information in this literature review clarifies issues affecting layoff strategies. These issues often negatively affect the layoff process by eroding the relationship between employees, instigating reduced organizational commitment, and damaging the perceived integrity of leaders' behaviors. Reviewing the literature improved understanding of how people respond to change in the workplace and how other scholars and practitioners have regarded organizational layoff and change initiatives. The literature review includes research on layoffs and organizational change in numerous global organizations, significant research regarding organizational commitment, and several studies on employee reaction to change.

The identified possible contributing factors to reduced organizational commitment following the lived experience, based upon the literature review, include (a) communication, (b) trust, (c) survivor's sickness, (d) organizational culture, (d) leadership relationships, and (e) management style. Leaders of organizations who rely heavily on human capital may realize the effects of layoffs including reduced performance, efficiency, and organizational commitment, more readily than leaders of organizations less reliant on human capital. The review indicates that employees'

perceptions and actions could affect the success of layoff initiatives and the future performance of the organization.

Prior to the popular press, business scholars, and HR professionals using the term *layoffs* to describe job loss, Gandolfi (2005), perhaps the most influential scholar in the field of downsizing and layoffs, was developing theories about the cause and effects of this layoff phenomenon. This study builds on the concepts advanced by Gandolfi, specifically in the areas concerning possible causes for layoffs and alternate measures to avoid them. Gandolfi and Oster (2010) demonstrated that management uses layoffs to realize immediate reductions in costs and to increase efficiency, profits, competitiveness, and productivity for more than three decades. Gandolfi examined layoffs from the perspective of victims, survivors, and executors, but not from the perspective of employees who voluntarily severed employment with downsizing organizations.

In this study, I explored the layoff phenomenon from the perspective of those who were capable of surviving layoffs but chose to leave their employer subsequent to the lived experience. My role was to study the concepts of (a) organizational change and stress, (b) layoff causes and avoidance, (c) knowledge retention, (d) leadership roles and relationships with an emphasis on trust and communication between leaders and subordinates, (e) survivor syndrome, (f) organizational commitment and job insecurity, (g) organizational trust and perceived fairness, and (h) knowledge retention and post layoff performance as a basis for this study. Layoffs frequently affect organizational commitment in downsizing businesses and may influence employees' leave intentions (Bayardo, Reche, & Cabada, 2013; Malik, Ahmad, & Hussain, 2010; Parzefall &

Kuppelwieser, 2012). Reviewing the literature provided insight about how researchers, scholars, and human resource practitioners view layoffs and the associated processes.

The keywords for collecting facts for this research study, when combined with the term *layoff*, were (a) *survivor syndrome*, (b) *organizational commitment*, (c) *trust*, (d) *knowledge retention*, (e) *causes*, (f) *leadership*, (g) *change*, and (h) *alternatives*. I used a variety of search engines and databases to retrieve sources for this study. The primary databanks included (a) Academic Search Premier, (b) Business Search Premier, (c) Business Source Complete, (d) ProQuest Central, (e) SAGE Premier, (f) Science Direct, (g) EBSCO host, and (h) ABI/INFORM Complete. All articles included are from peer-reviewed journals, and the remaining literature was from scholarly and professional books; of these sources, a minimum of 85% have publication dates that comply with the 3-5 year requirement for study inclusion. This literature review includes 169 sources, of which 153 are peer-reviewed journal articles (90.5%), and 157 are from 2010 or later (92.89%).

Organizational Change and Stress

One significant theme across literature was how people respond to change. Any change in a person's daily routine may introduce some level of stress into their life.

Change in a person's employment situation can cause stress, which may be difficult to overcome (Reisel, Probst, Chia, Maloles, & König, 2010). According to Selye's (1955) general adaptation syndrome, stress evolves from an alarm reaction to the stress situation, to resistance to the stressor, and eventually to exhaustion. Once exhausted, people may choose to cope with the stress, concede to defeat, or remove themselves from the stressor.

How people perceive stress may contribute to the handling of the stressful situation. Humans frequently equate stress with the inability to meet the demands of a situation given the available resources (Lazarus, 1966). This inability to resolve a perceived threat might leave people believing they are vulnerable and endangered (Lazarus, 1966, 1999). Lazarus's (1991) transactional model of stress, based on the primacy of cognition, offers two options: coping or cognitive appraisal as means to arbitrate the response of individuals to environmental stressors. The writings of Lazarus (1966), specifically the transactional model of stress, continue to influence stress studies and their scholars (Arnold & Staffelbach, 2012; Nuttman-Shwartz & Gadot, 2012; Ursin & Eriksen, 2010). Under the transactional model of stress, people categorize stressors as threating, benign, or challenging to their well-being (Parker, Martin, Colmar, & Liem, 2012). Stress develops as part of a process resulting from some stimuli in the work environment (Lazarus, 1966). This stimulus triggers the cognitive appraisal process, which leads to an assessment of the severity of the threat of the stimuli to a person's wellbeing (Meurs & Perrewé, 2011). Depending on the outcome of their cognitive appraisal, humans will determine what options are available to address the presented stressor (Parker et al., 2012). If a person deems a threat as too formidable to ignore, the individual will employ a secondary appraisal process to determine what, if anything can remove or minimize the effects of the threat (Arnold & Staffelbach, 2012; Meurs & Perrewé, 2011). Past researchers showed that if the situation requires more resources than the person possesses, this imbalance will cause a strain (Lazarus, 1999; Meurs & Perrewé, 2011). This transactional model of stress may prove fundamental to

understanding employees who choose to leave organizations after the lived experience.

Each person may respond to stress differently depending on variables including confidence, support, and environmental issues.

The adaptive nature of stress is central to understanding why the reaction to a given stressor is unpredictable. The cognitive activation theory of stress (CATS) can help explain how employees may adapt and respond to workplace stressors (Ursin & Eriksen, 2004). The concept of CATS provides a reliable means to predict people response to a stressor (Ursin & Eriksen, 2004). Some researchers have suggested that, in small doses, humans can withstand stress but over prolonged periods of exposure or in large amounts, there will be a fracture in psychological makeup (Cannon, 1932; Meurs & Perrewé, 2011). Understanding why employees perceive the layoff stressor differently over time may provide insight about reducing the negative emotions associated with layoffs.

Based on the 1932 work by Campbell, CATS provides a means for researchers to evaluate a given situation and predict a person's response to stress. This predictability is possible because researchers showed the stress response to be a normal, healthy, and necessary alarm response present in all species around the world (Ursin & Eriksen, 2004). Individuals must respond to the stress presented to them (Meurs & Perrewé, 2011; Ursin & Eriksen, 2004). There are three ways to categorize how people respond to stress: positively, negatively, or with uncertainty (Ursin & Eriksen, 2004, 2010). Individuals who respond to stress positively will do whatever it takes to cope with the issues and expect the situation to end in a positive outcome. If people believe the outcome of the

situation is uncertain, regardless of the action taken, they are helpless. However, according to Ursin and Eriksen (2010), the worst situation for individuals is the sense of hopelessness whereby any response to the stressor would result in a negative outcome. This theory of expectations and stress may aid in understanding the effects of downsizing initiatives on surviving workforces.

Layoff Causes and Avoidance

Understanding why organizations' leaders initiate layoffs may aid in exploring the effect such initiatives have on employees. The topic of organizational downsizing, through the process of layoffs, began to gain attention in the 1980s and has continued to build momentum (Datta et al., 2010; Gandolfi & Hansson, 2010; Mellahi & Wilkinson, 2010). Once perceived as an act of desperation by organizational leaders facing economic challenges, layoffs have gained prominence as a legitimate business strategy since the mid-1980s (Gandolfi, 2013; Gandolfi & Hansson, 2010). Increased rates of unemployment inflows may be a distinct feature of severe recessions (Elsby, Hobijn, & Sahin, 2010). The recession of 2008 may have been a contributing factor of the 2009 unemployment inflows, whereby more than 4 million Americans lost their jobs via layoffs (Cascio, 2010), and the trend of layoffs continues as more organizations' leaders seek to remain competitive (Datta et al., 2010). Researchers conducting studies concerning recent downsizing focused on various sectors of the economy including banking, real estate, insurance, and manufacturing (Datta et al., 2010; Iqbal & Shetty, 2011). Leaders of organizations from around the globe may need to develop strategies to cope with a challenging economy.

When business executives consider the potential benefits of implementing layoffs, the promise of reduced costs, higher efficiencies, and greater profits may prove too tempting to ignore. However, researchers demonstrated that downsizing activities may result in damaging consequences such as no financial gains, poor market reaction to layoffs, stock price decline, and loss of stable workforce (Chaudhry et al., 2011; Gandolfi & Littler, 2012; Greenhalgh & Rosenblatt, 2010). In short, using downsizing as a strategy may prove damaging to organizations' economic performance (Muñoz-Bullón & Sánchez-Bueno, 2011; Parzefall, 2012). The downside of downsizing can outweigh the benefits, yet the practice continues.

Among the views held by researchers, there is no definitive cause for downsizing. Some researchers contended that failures such as incapability to manage, inability to adapt to technology, new equipment and processes provoke layoffs (Kawai, 2011; Megilo & Risberg, 2010; Mellahi & Wilkinson, 2010). Each of these failures contributes to poor organizational performance and consequently layoffs. Others posited that downsizing is largely a product of organizations' leaders attempting to bolster organizational-level financial outcomes (Datta et al., 2010). This outcome occurs either by attempting to improve stock prices or by increasing corporations' earnings per share of stock (Arce & Li, 2011; Day et al., 2012; Iqbal & Shetty, 2011). Regardless of the reasons presented by leadership, there may be little probability that leaders of organizations will eliminate layoffs as a strategic tool.

Layoffs can lead to results that counter their intended outcomes. Perhaps the most frequently used argument for implementing layoffs is lowering the cost of doing business

(Maertz et al., 2010; Mäkelä & Näsi, 2010). However, because of additional costs associated with severances, retraining, and recruiting layoffs may increase the cost of doing business (Gandolfi & Littler, 2012; Makawatsakul & Kleiner, 2003; Mitchell et al., 2010). Ironically, using layoffs may result in consequences that are counter to the argument for implementing them.

Downsizing is one of the most far-reaching and significant management issues of this era (Datta et al., 2010; Gandolfi & Hansson, 2011). Other researchers view layoff as a desperate attempt by management to mask poor strategic leadership and poor management (Kawai, 2011; Vicente-Lorente & Zúñiga-Vicente, 2012; Wolff, 2012). Organizational leaders' motivation can substantially influence layoff initiatives as a management tool and can significantly alter the competitive landscape of an organization. If properly executed, layoffs can reduce operating costs, increase profits, and improve efficiencies of the organization (Iqbal & Shetty, 2011). Proper communication and fair administration of layoff initiatives, along with adequate valuation of employees' tacit knowledge may moderate the loss of organizational performance and competitive advantage following layoff announcements (Flint, Maher, & Wielemaker, 2012).

Leaders of organizations may face technological advances from competitors that are difficult to meet under their existing structure. In these situations, layoffs may represent their only possibility to remain competitive in the short term. The decision to resort to layoffs may lessen the effect of competitors' new technology, but eventually the situation will require a more permanent solution. Failing to respond to technological innovations may force organizational leadership to utilize a fundamental technology that

may be obsolete, provide less output potential, or reduce the options available for future customers (Schmitt, Borzillo, & Probst, 2012). These options may appear unattractive to members of leadership because failing to adapt to the changing competitive landscape may mean failing to survive (Bordia, Restubog, Jimmieson, & Irmer, 2011; Pfeffer, 2010). Organizations' leaders should view human capital as a vital part of their strategic planning, and should provide training to keep current on technological advances as compared to viewing employees as added weight to discard when market conditions worsen.

Perhaps Gandolfi and Hansson (2011) offered the best explanation for the layoff phenomenon when they stated that downsizing is the manifestation of organizations' leaders attempting to gain instant increases in the areas of profits, efficiencies, competitiveness, and productivity while simultaneously reducing costs. Most managers and scholars may agree with this statement concerning the rationale of organizations' leaders to pursue layoffs, but the results of downsizing are inconsistent at best. The benefits of initiating layoffs may be impossible to achieve under existing HR practices, for example. Some organizations' leadership employs a last in first out method of layoffs, whereby the most senior employees realize a buffering effect from downsizing initiatives (Chen, Kacperczyk, & Ortiz-Molina, 2011). Organizations with unionized workforces that use seniority as the basis for layoffs must release all employees with less seniority prior to eliminating the jobs of employees whom they deem underperformers who have more seniority (Chen et al., 2011). Organizations' leaders who operate under such restrictions enjoy less flexibility in managing the daily operations of their business

(Chen et al., 2011). These inconsistencies may stem from ambiguous means of measuring outcomes of knowledge loss.

The inability of organizations' leaders to measure the value of employees may contribute to the dilemma of inconsistent benefits from downsizing initiatives. The intellectual capital of an organization resides in its employees in the form of tacit knowledge (Flint et al., 2012; Guthrie, Ricceri, & Dumay, 2012). These types of intangible assets are more difficult to represent in the balance sheets than land, cash, and buildings (Flint et al., 2012; Guthrie et al., 2012; Tsai & Yen, 2013). Organizations' leaders may be willing to part with employees more readily than parting with hard assets, but when an organization's workgroup loses employees, the workgroup will also experience a decrease in tacit knowledge. The subsequent depletion of intellectual capital represents a reduction in an organization's competitive position (Day et al., 2012; Dumay & Cuganesan, 2011; Flint et al., 2012; Iskander & Lowe, 2010; Kong et al., 2013). This reduction in a competitive position may be especially true for more knowledge dependent industries than non-knowledge and learning dependent industries (Schmitt et al., 2012). The result of losing years of tacit knowledge might cost more than what organizations could gain by reducing labor costs.

Knowledge Retention

The inability of organizations' leaders to retain employees beyond their post layoff initiatives may contribute to the inability to remain competitive following layoffs, and thereby to the influx of new competitors into the business sector (Pfeffer, 2010).

During downsizing, organizations' workgroups lose some competitive advantage when

employees leave with their tacit knowledge (Pfeffer, 2010; Schmitt et al., 2012). Industries with low barriers to entry may be susceptible to new competitors vying for market share, especially during economic times that lead to layoffs (Pfeffer, 2010; Margalit, 2011; Schmitt et al., 2012). This easy access into the market may help explain, why during the decade between 1997 and 2007, the industrial sector lost about 20% of its workforce while imports of manufactured goods more than doubled over this same period (Houseman, Kurz, Lengermann, & Mandel, 2011). Leaders of organizations that undergo layoffs to remain competitive may weaken their strategic position by allowing new competitors to gain a foothold in their industry.

The negative effects of losing talent caused by layoffs have inspired recommendations from past researchers to modify layoff practices (Bacon, Blyton, & Dastmalchian, 2010; Hallock, Strain, & Webber, 2011). Some researchers demonstrated that organizations' HR procedures might cause survivors to seek other opportunities during layoffs (Datta et al., 2010; Hausknecht & Trevor, 2011; Iverson & Zatzick, 2011; Parzefall, 2012). This loss of commitment by employees might decrease the cumulative organizational competitiveness. How HR professionals execute a downsizing initiative is a significant factor in altering employees' organizational commitment, and changing layoff procedures might reduce employee attrition (Schmitt et al., 2012). If leaders of an organization must undertake layoffs, doing so in a manner that reduces the negative effects on employees might improve the organization's long-term performance. Altering HR practices to mediate the negative effects of layoffs might prove beneficial to retaining employees subsequent to announcing layoffs.

Judge and Kammeyer-Mueller (2011) demonstrated that leaders of organizations should commit more time and resources to the study of employee motivation and job satisfaction. HR professionals who increase their understanding about positive psychology influence on employees might develop downsizing methods that mitigate the negative effects of layoffs (Adalsteinsson & Haraldsdottir, 2013; Froman, 2010). Employees might prove less likely to leave an employer if they believe the organization's leaders acted in the best interest of the employees during times of change as compared to organizational leaders who disregard the effect of change on employees.

Layoffs may not be the only option for leaders of organizations experiencing trying market conditions. Organizational leaders can utilize labor initiatives such as wage reductions, job sharing, short-term compensation, shortened work weeks, early retirements, furloughs, and voluntary time off to avoid layoffs (Bacon et al., 2010; Hallock et al., 2011; Kahn, 2012; Kimball, 2012). Reducing wages, furloughs, and shortening the workweek might allow organizations' leaders to show lower operating costs without reducing workforce (Bacon et al., 2010; Hallock et al., 2011). Utilizing these initiatives may lead to increased motivation by the workforce to avoid layoffs, reduced feelings of betrayal by the workforce, and retention of an intact workforce when business conditions improve.

Job sharing and short-term compensation can act as buffers between a lull in labor demand and changes in the industry that might require additional labor (Bacon et al., 2010; Kimball, 2012). These options offer organizations' leaders the opportunity of reducing labor costs without the costs associated with hiring and training additional staff

as conditions improve (Bacon et al., 2010; Kimball, 2012). If employees feel underutilized or overburdened, job sharing initiatives may lead to poor organizational performance (Bacon et al., 2010). In such cases, leaders may require strategies such as early retirement.

Early retirements might be an alternative to layoffs for some organizations (Hallock et al., 2011; Makawatsakul & Kleiner, 2003). In accordance with HR restrictions regarding layoffs, leaders may keep the most senior and thereby the oldest employees during layoff implementations (Chen et al., 2011). If leaders of an organization can entice more senior employees to leave voluntarily, then younger employees might remain with the organization. Early retirement frequently removes the penalties associated with leaving the organization prior to meeting a given set of predetermined conditions and might prove a viable enticement for older employees who may not otherwise be able to retire comfortably (Chen et al., 2011). If an employee retires under agreeable terms with the organization, it may be reasonable to believe the employee would return to the organization on a temporary basis if conditions warranted such a decision.

Creative thinking by leaders might provide viable solutions to address a downturn in the organization's business cycle. Organizational leaders might avoid layoffs by using creative staffing options such as depleting vacation or reducing wages as opposed to early retirement (Hallock et al., 2011). Many employees might not be ready to leave the workforce entirely, but might welcome a chance to take additional vacation at a reduced wage and return to work as conditions improve (Hallock et al., 2011). Others might work

additional hours at regular pay and take time off when demand is lower; thereby allowing the organizational leadership to save paying overtime wages (Hallock et al., 2011).

Organizational leaders who find creative means to adjust labor supply to market demands may be less susceptible to economic downturns than are leaders of organizations that rely on layoffs to adjust labor costs (Parzefall, 2012). Consequently, there might be better options than layoffs available to organizations facing difficult economic times.

Utilizing these possible alternatives to layoff initiatives might moderate the emotional and psychological triggers typically associated with forced workforce reductions. Managers must consider the skill level of their employees to avoid overburdening or underutilizing their abilities (Bacon et al., 2010). The success of any proposal might depend on how leaders implement and communicate new initiatives (Oreg, Vakola, & Armenakis, 2011). Properly managing the organization's human resources might be the basis of effective layoff initiatives.

Leadership Roles and Relationships

Since the mid-1980s, leaders have used downsizing as a legitimate strategic management tool (Gandolfi, 2013). Managers are integral to how well employees receive this strategy. Leadership style can influence organizational performance via the relationships formed between employees (Searle et al., 2011). How leaders handle change can often affect employees' behavior (Arshad & Sparrow, 2010; Atilgan & McCullen, 2011; Van Dierendonck & Jacobs, 2012). If leaders fail to convey confidence in the organization's direction, other members of the organization might resist the change initiative because employees might reflect and amplify leadership's lack of confidence in

the initiative (Joo, 2010). Essentially, obtaining the desired results from organizational initiatives might depend on leading by example by those in charge of change.

Management style might influence the success of organizational change initiatives. During times of organizational change and distress, managers' leadership style might substantially affect employee response to change (Atilgan & McCullen, 2011; Burnes & Jackson, 2011; Jaros, 2010). The style chosen by a manager can either benefit or hinder the successful implementation of change initiatives. Managers who strongly demonstrate helping skills, which people associate with interpersonal and transformational leadership styles, tend to create trusting and empowered workforces (Joo, 2012). Trusting and empowered workgroups might display confidence in themselves and the organization and be less resistant to change. Managers who display traditional management skills such as controlling, planning, and directing, which are more associated with task oriented and transactional leadership styles, might commit less time developing workplace relationships (Joo, 2010, 2012). These workplace relationships can be critical during organizational change because, employees may exert more effort to the success of organizational change if they perceive value in the relationships between members than if they view their role as just another piece of equipment to complete a task.

Strong workplace relationships might lead to employees having higher levels of commitment to the organization and higher performances (Joo, 2012). Those managers who develop learning cultures based on respect and employee empowerment will maintain higher employment commitment to the changing organization (Grdinovac &

Yancey, 2012; Joo, 2012; Noer, 2010; Whitman, VanRoddy, & Viswesvaran, 2010). Employees who learn from each other and believe themselves to be responsible for their fate have higher levels of self-efficacy (Oreg et al., 2011) and are more likely to accept change than are employees whose leaders are more transactional focused and who manage via a directive leadership style (Joo, 2010, 2012). Developing a culture where knowledge passes easily between members who share common goals might prove essential to organizational success.

Trust and communication. Trust might be the most fundamental characteristic of any successful relationship. Leaders who develop relationships with subordinates and inspire caring and trust among members might realize higher levels of performance from employees (Joo, 2010, 2012; Joo & Shim, 2010). This supportive leadership style may prove more effective with high performing work groups than a traditional directive leadership style.

During times of downsizing, this culture of caring can moderate the negativity associated with layoffs and might positively influence an employee's organizational commitment (Joo, 2010, 2012; Joo & Shim, 2010). Leaders utilizing a supportive transformative leadership style when leading employees who are competent in their job and confident in their ability may experience less resistance to change than leaders using directing transactional leadership styles (Joo, 2010, 2012; Joo & Shim, 2010). During organizational change, it might prove beneficial if managers and organizational leaders can determine how to strengthen the trust relationship between members of the organization.

Open communication between members may provide the shortest route to building trust. Subordinates view leaders who practice transparency through open communication as trustworthy and positively associate these leaders with organizational performance during incidents of change within the organization (Arnold & Staffelbach, 2012; Chong & Wolf, 2010; Norman, Avolio, & Luthans, 2010). The success of an organization during difficult economic conditions might depend on leaders who treat employees as responsible members of the group.

Organizations may suffer because employees might fear the concept of change. Additionally, management can reduce the negative effects of change and improve the possibility of organizational survival by removing employees' negative perceptions of layoffs (Chipunza & Berry, 2010). Positive change might occur by increasing organizational leaders' understanding about the shock of layoffs on surviving employees and addressing these affects through improving HR policies and procedures to minimize damage of employee morale (Battistelli, Montani, Odoardi, Vandenberghe, & Picci, 2014; Oreg et al., 2011; Vakola, 2013). Change that can occur without damaging the commitment of employees may lead to future organizational success.

Successful change might require the use of some basic concepts. Leaders must adequately communicate to their employees the types of changes to expect and why the changes are necessary (Bull & Brown, 2012; Chen, Lai, & Chen, 2012; Losonci et al., 2010; Malik, Ahmad, & Hussain, 2010; Siegel & Simons, 2010). Employees who believe they are contributors in a change process might support the process more than those who believe themselves to be at the mercy of the change. The success of change

initiatives, specifically layoffs, might depend more on management's implementation of change than the change they wish to implement (Burnes & Jackson, 2011; Michaelis, Stegmaier, & Sonntag, 2010; Oreg et al., 2011). As such, close attention to layoff communication as viewed by the affected employees is vital. Homburg, Klarmann, and Statitz, (2012) posited informing customers as well as the employees of any significant changes might prove equally beneficial. Workers, who are up to date on information about upcoming initiatives, might perceive the change more favorably than if the change comes as a surprise or if they learn about it too late.

Leadership style can substantially influence employee performance. Leaders might make decisions based on self-interest as opposed to the best interest of the organization or its employees (Bachmann, Gillespie, & Kramer, 2012; Chen, Lu, & Sougiannis, 2012; Lee & Taylor, 2014). Because leadership is one of the most influential variables in worker performance (Joo, 2012) employees who perceive leaders' decisions to be inconsistent with the stated, desired outcome of the organization might perform poorly. Reduced organizational performance and ultimately downsizing might stem from employees' perception of poor decisions by leadership.

Job performance might suffer if employees do not commit to the change initiative. This possibility of employees not committing enforces the importance of leadership developing a well-defined change strategy (Battilana et al., 2010; Collins, 2010; Mishra & Gupta, 2010). Offering employees a sense of understanding can remove some of the uncertainty of change and lead to open communication about employees' concerns. Leaders can achieve commitment from subordinates and improve the likelihood of

successfully implementing critical change initiatives by addressing employees' concerns (Bordia et al., 2011; Jaros, 2010). Communication and relationship development between leaders and subordinates can mitigate the effect of layoffs for victims and survivors.

Survivor Syndrome

Layoffs might only be the beginning of the stress process for surviving employees. Employees who survive layoffs might harbor negative emotions toward the organization (Maertz et al., 2010; Waraich & Bhardwaj, 2012). These emotions can reduce the employees' affective attachment and subsequently their organizational commitment (Maertz & Griffeth, 2004). Consequently, people will reason with themselves to understand the emotional aspects concerning if remaining with the downsizing organization benefit them more or less than leaving the organization (Maertz & Griffeth, 2004). Factors contributing to an employee's decision to leave or stay might include other employment opportunities, moral dilemma of leaving, expectations of others, and the employee's sense of obligation to the organization (Maertz & Griffeth, 2004). Whether employees leaves or remains with an organization might depend on how they measure these factors (Maertz & Griffeth, 2004; Maertz et al., 2010). Ultimately, deciding on the appropriate decision regarding their future employment can cause employees a substantial amount of stress.

Survivors' calculative attachment could also decrease because of their perception of the difficulty of achieving future advancement within downsizing organizations (Maertz & Griffeth, 2004). People cognitively evaluate these two sets of factors together

to derive a final stay or go decision but unlike affective forces that include current emotion, calculative forces employs rational self-interest with a future orientation (Maertz & Griffeth, 2004). Organizational leaders that can implement layoff initiatives in a manner that enforces employee commitment as opposed to damaging it might realize greater success following the layoffs.

Survivors of layoffs could realize more adverse effects than other groups associated with layoffs. Employees who remain with the organization following layoffs might live with the guilt of being survivors (Arshad & Sparrow, 2010). The adverse effects survivors of layoffs encounter including added workload, lower productivity, decreased loyalty, and reduced motivation recurs in the literature as survivor syndrome or survivor sickness (Chipunza & Berry, 2010; Cotter & Fouad, 2012). This syndrome can lead to reduced organizational commitment because feelings of guilt, decreased loyalty, decreased motivation, and fear may be more than employees can withstand (Greenwood & Reinardy, 2011; Hildesheim & Winkelmann, 2010; Malik et al., 2010). The stress of surviving layoffs may cause many of the employees that organizations' leaders may rely on, for future success, to leave the employer prior to the completion of the initiative.

The relationships between employees may be a powerful motivator for employees' decisions to either stay or go during difficult change initiatives. Furthermore, the inability of surviving employees to reconcile their continued employment against the loss of employment for displaced coworkers may prove unhealthy and demoralizing (Ngirande, 2012; Oreg & Sverdlik, 2011; Parks-Yancy, 2011; Reinardy, 2011). The relationships between employees frequently go unnoticed by organizational leadership

and managers (Parks-Yancy, 2011). Such relationships may prove fundamental to job satisfaction and productivity.

Losing a long-time coworker and friend to layoffs may be emotionally damaging to the remaining members of the workgroup. The influence of disrupting the makeup of a workgroup intensifies as group cohesiveness increases (Campbell, 1958). Conceptually, three indicators may determine the strength of the group's cohesiveness or entitativity. According to Campbell's (1958) concept of entitativity, the indicators for review are: proximity (the distance between people in the group), common fate (the extent to which members in the group seem to experience interrelated outcomes), and similarity (the extent to which the individuals display the same behaviors or resemble one another). Groups of employees who share strong bonds with each other may display more negative reactions to losing members of its group than people from a loosely associated workgroup.

The entitativity of journeyman craft groups may prove substantial. If each participant of the research study share similar training and education a bond may exist between participants. This bond may exist regardless of organizational affiliation because these employees share a designation of journeyman status that no other employees can claim. These participants typically worked in proximity to each other, often in functional groups. In accordance with each facet of Campbell's requirements (Campbell, 1958), these types of workgroups are highly entitative

Any disruption of the group will influence the perceptions and behavior of remaining members of the group (Campbell, 1958). The reaction to disruptions in the

group's makeup may increase as the skill set of the group becomes more specialized. However, groups that form over time may respond negatively to losing members regardless of shared specialized skills.

Groups whose members share common traits and characteristics are likely to form strong bonds. Additional research in the area of entitativity showed members' similarity might prove valid identifiers of group entitativity (Ip, Chiu, & Wan, 2006). A group consisting of members who share common goals might be highly entitative. This concept of shared similarities as a basis for entitativity may prove valid regardless of racial or ethnic composition of the group (Ip et al., 2006). These similarities can come in the form of uniforms or clothing, but Ip et al. (2006) demonstrated that race or skin color was a more common indicator of group entitativity than any other factor. This notion of physical characteristics, such as skin color or race, predicting entitativity may hold true in downsizing organizations and workgroups within these organizations. Other people may not readily recognize or understand the objective or goal of the group without closer observation.

Some researchers disagree with the concept of physical similarities being the same as entitativity. The findings of Crump, Hamilton, Sherman, Lickel and Thakkar (2010) refute Ip's et al. assessment of similarities among members being equivalent to entitativity of the group. Without individuals affixing meaning to perceived physical similarities there is no entitativity to perceive (Crump et al., 2010). During times of downsizing, employees may view race or ethnicity as a qualifying variable for dismissal or retention of employment (Bell, Berry, Marquardt, & Green, 2013). Researchers have

shown that groups consisting of members who share common characteristics in appearances and a common cohesive objective are more entitative than groups who do not share these traits (Crump et al., 2010). How employees view the layoff process and how this process affects their social group may contribute to the future success of the group and the organization.

Organizational leaders may benefit from addressing potential issues with survivors prior to the issues becoming problematic. Past researchers showed that surviving employees are critical to organizational success post layoff (Chipunza & Berry, 2010; Iverson & Zatzick, 2011; Schmitt et al., 2012). Leaders of downsizing organizations may suffer a downturn in productivity and organizational commitment if the remaining employees feel betrayed by leadership (Chipunza & Berry, 2010; Joo, 2010; Joo, 2012). Remaining employees whose treatment does not account for the trauma they are enduring may develop reduced organizational commitment often caused by decreased employee morale (Iverson & Zatzick, 2011). Leaders must handle survivors properly because they are perhaps the most influential variable in deciding the future success of downsizing firms (Schmitt et al., 2012). Any voluntary turnover may prove damaging to downsizing organizations (Malik, Saleem, & Ahmad, 2010; Marques, Suárez-González, Cruz, & Ferreira, 2011; Trevor & Nyberg, 2008). If employees are vital to the future success of an organization, leaders and managers may prove prudent to treat them in a manner that addresses the hardships of layoffs.

Following layoffs, those employees who were victims of the process may be the lucky ones. Some researchers contend that downsizing decreases job satisfaction and

increases the workload for those who survive (Kurebwa, 2011; Malik et al., 2010; Malik, Hussain, & Mahmood, 2011; Reinardy, 2011; Saif, Malik, & Awan, 2011). The cumulative effects of workload, insecurity, and reduced job satisfaction frequently lead to adverse psychological and physical health effects for survivors (Berchick, Gallo, Maralani, & Kasl, 2012; Deb, Gallo, Ayyagari, Fletcher, & Sindelar, 2011; Malik & Ahmad, 2011; Malik, Saleem, & Ahmad, 2010; Østhus, 2012; Østhus & Mastekaasa, 2010). These effects may lead to a decrease in organizational commitment by the employees.

Organizational Commitment and Job Insecurity

Job insecurity may prove vital to how employees respond to organizational change. Consistent with the work of Greenhalgh (1983), any change in the organization causes a threat to worker's job security even if only slightly, and this job insecurity is a crucial factor between a given situation and how employees respond to the situation behaviorally and attitudinally. In cases involving layoffs, employees may have reason to perceive a sense of job insecurity regardless of effort or ability. The theory of reasoned action (RA) presents a means of gauging the organizational commitment of survivors in downsizing organizations and suggests predictability in employees' behavior (Ajzen & Fishbein, 1977; van Dierendonck & Jacobs, 2012). This theory of reasoned action dictates that individuals intend to behave in a given manner in specified situations (Ajzen, 2012; Gold, 2011; Yousafzai et al., 2010).

The effects of layoffs can be substantial for survivors following downsizings.

Frequently, these effects lead to feelings of decreased job security and reduced

organizational commitment (Faller, Grabarek, & Ortega, 2010; Klehe et al., 2011; Lavelle et al., 2009; Parzefall & Kuppelwieser, 2012). How organizations' leaders communicated and implemented layoff initiatives had a significant effect on employees' attitudes. If not properly administered these initiatives could alter employees' desire to remain with the employer (Schmitt et al., 2012; Spangenburg, 2012). Accurately gauging employees' organizational commitment is one of the truest indicators of their projected job performance and leave intentions (Becker, Ullrich & van Dick, 2013; Hausknecht, Sturman, & Roberson, 2011).

Employers and employees develop relationships based on reciprocation. These reciprocal associations, called psychological contracts, may be critical in how well organizations' workgroups perform (Conway & Coyle-Shapiro, 2012). Employers entice employees to join and remain with their organization through the use of inducements, such as wages and benefits; in return employees provide a high level of performance (Carraher, 2011; Lee, Forster, & Rehner, 2011; Restubog, Bordia, & Bordia, 2011). Any change in these implied contracts can lead to employee stress.

Understanding how participants of this study view the layoff process and if they view this process as a breach in the psychological contract may provide insight into the participant's decision to leave downsizing organizations. Survivors often view layoffs as a breach in the psychological contracts between the two sides, thus reducing the organizational commitment of the surviving employees (Chaudhry et al., 2011; Greenhalgh & Rosenblatt, 2010). Reduced organizational commitment via the breach in

the psychological contract may only be the beginning of the woes facing employees of organizations undertaking layoffs.

Reduced organizational commitment may affect employees beyond their relationship with the downsizing organization. Because remaining employees of a downsizing organization may represent the future of that organization, employee commitment is a decisive variable for HR professionals and business leaders to consider when contemplating downsizing initiatives (Fugate, Prussia, & Kinicki, 2012; Schmitt et al., 2012). Employee commitment to an organization affects survivors' productivity, absenteeism, and turnover intentions (Ayinnde, 2011; Malik et al., 2010; Neininger, Lehmann-Willenbrock, Kauffeld & Henschel, 2010; Spangenburg, 2012). In part, these actions occur because employees believe the organization's leadership violated the trust relationship. This perception of violated trust may follow employees as they transition to new employers (Bordia et al., 2011; Kim & Choi, 2010) and reduce the level of commitment extended to the new employer. Individuals, who have previously experienced poorly executed change initiatives, may be sensitive to any proposed change.

Organizational leadership may benefit from developing cultures that encourage acceptance among its members. Employees who possess a sense of belonging may prove less susceptible to the effects of organizational layoffs than those employees who experience exclusion and isolation (Lavelle et al., 2009). The concept of belonging in an organization, gauged by employees as believing they hold value and receive appreciation, may mediate the negativity associated with downsizing (Guchait & Cho, 2010). Employees who develop relationships with members of the organization and assimilate as

part of the organization may experience greater commitment to the organization (Lavelle et al., 2009).

During challenging economic times, employees who possess the most marketable skills may prove to be the least affected by downsizing initiatives (Greenwood & Reinardy, 2011; Michael & Michael, 2012). Employees who believe they contribute value to the organization may prove less susceptible to the effects of organizational layoffs than other employees. This confidence in a person's value may mediate the uncertainty associated with layoffs (Greenwood & Reinardy, 2011; Kalleberg, 2012; Trevor & Nyberg, 2008). Employees who elect to pursue other employment opportunities, and are capable of having a substantial influence on the downsizing organization by their departure, are likely to possess substantial tacit knowledge that may be desirable to other organizations (Trevor & Nyberg, 2008). Researchers theorized that possessing marketable skills reduces employees' susceptibility to the negative effects of job insecurity (Kalleberg, 2012; Kalyal, Berntson, Baraldi, Näswall, & Sverke, 2010; Pruijt & Dérogée, 2010). Survivors who are confident in their ability to contribute to the future success of the downsizing organization, but equally confident they can find satisfying alternate employment elsewhere, may opt to remain with the downsizing organization (Greenwood & Reinardy, 2011). This confidence in marketable skills may reduce voluntary attrition from downsizing organizations.

Employees experiencing stress may perform poorly at work. Because work is such a large part of everyday life, any threat to a person's job causes strong behavior and psychological reactions that often conflict with work objectives (Greenhalgh &

Rosenblatt, 2010; Silla et al., 2010). Past researchers provided insight on how stress caused by layoffs may negatively affect productivity and organizational commitment, and positively affect employee turnover (Chipunza & Berry, 2010; Datta et al., 2010). This stress may contribute to health issues, work-life imbalance, and increased leave intentions of employees (Arshad & Sparrow, 2010; Modrek & Cullen, 2013; Muhammad Imran Malik & Usman, 2011; Saif et al., 2011).

Employees who perceive their jobs as secure report higher levels of job satisfaction and more positive job-related attitudes than those who perceive their job as insecure (Chirumbolo & Areni, 2010; Probst & Ekore, 2010; Richter, Näswall & Sverke, 2010). Job insecurity is arguably a greater stressor than losing a job. Researchers showed that job insecurity can affect more than a person's financial future; links exist between the stress of this phenomenon of job insecurity and mental and physical illnesses (Mandal, Ayyagari, & Gallo, 2011; Michael & Michael, 2012; Probst & Strand, 2010; Reisel et al., 2010). Perhaps the level of confidence and trust survivors have in the layoff process may mitigate these illnesses.

Organizational Trust and Perceived Fairness

Historically, employers and employees maintained a relationship built on an unspoken, implicit contract. This labor contract acts as a major factor in employee loyalty and organizational commitment (Arshad & Sparrow, 2010; Conway & Coyle-Shapiro, 2012; Ng, Feldman, & Lam, 2010). This psychological labor contract can aid the organizational leadership in retaining employees during times of downsizing (Lavelle

et al., 2009). Any perceived breach in this contract, however, may lead to employees leaving the organization (van Dierendonck & Jacobs, 2012).

Trust is a vital aspect of relationships and should be protected and nurtured. Organizational trust and procedural fairness may contribute to business success during incidents of change (Derue, Nahrgang, Wellman, & Humphry, 2011; Norman et al., 2010; Smollan, 2013). A contributing factor to employees choosing to stay or leave is the trust they place in the decisions made within the organization (Kim, 2009; Lavelle et al., 2009; Shah, 2011). This trust may come from management, coworkers, supervisors, or any combination of the three (Oh & Park, 2011; Smollan, 2013; Smollan & Parry, 2011; Whitman, Caleo, Carpenter, Horner, & Bernerth, 2012). Employees undergoing layoffs may find it difficult to focus on job tasks if they do not trust those around them.

Layoffs erode the trust between employees and employers. This erosion occurs in part because the release of some victims may be due to no fault of their own (van Dierendonck & Jacobs, 2012). To protect the trust relationship, layoffs must occur in a fair and just manner (Munjuri, 2011; Pfeffer, 2010). Regardless of the process, some trust may be lost during the layoff process. Leaders must take steps to repair a damaged trust relationship (Kramer & Lewicki, 2010). Leaders who do not build strong relationships with their subordinates, built on trust, may find it difficult to direct members during times of organizational change.

The success of a layoff initiative may depend on how members of the organization interact with leaders during the layoff process. Researchers believe that employees may respond more favorably to leaders whom they view as fair compared to

those leaders whom employees view as being less fair (Dwyer & Arbelo, 2012; Guo & Giacobbe-Miller, 2012; Isenhour, Stone, & Lien, 2012). Relationships may represent the most direct antecedent to employee attitudes and behaviors, and subsequently the success of the downsizing process (Kim, 2009).

Knowledge Retention and Post layoff Performance

During downsizing, leaders of organizations lose knowledge tacit to employees, and this knowledge may prove critical to the organization's success following layoffs. Researchers posit that a culture that encourages knowledge sharing can minimize knowledge loss (Wang & Noe, 2010). An organization will be more flexible if members freely share knowledge and respond to changes in its competitive landscape (Jaros, 2010). If employees who own critical knowledge elect to leave without passing along their knowledge, the downsizing organization may encounter substantial obstacles to its future success.

In competitive businesses, a person can assume that sharing knowledge will lead to a stronger workforce that may possess the required skills to withstand the negative consequences associated with layoffs. Some of the repercussions associated with layoffs include loss of knowledge, reduced efficiencies, reduction in organizational commitment, and work overload. Knowledge is unlikely to flow freely in an organization after the announcement of layoff intentions unless such a culture was in place prior to layoff procedures (Jaros, 2010). The use of reasoned action theory may aid in understanding why survivors opt to leave organizations rather than attempt to rebuild it following layoff initiatives.

Human resources (survivors) are the only advantage an organization has in competitive markets, but a stable work environment is essential to capitalize on the tacit knowledge of these human assets (Anis et al., 2011; Mellahi & Wilkinson, 2010). Organizational leaders who maintain a culture that encourages open knowledge sharing among its employees may perform better than organizations whose employees hoard knowledge. As such, senior leadership must provide full support for a culture of knowledge sharing by creating a solid knowledge transfer process for organizational knowledge development and retention following layoffs (Cheese, 2010; Hall, 2012; Kraimer, Seibert, Wayne, Liden, & Bravo, 2011). Researchers contended that the performance outcomes of organizations increase as survivors share their knowledge and learn new skills to enhance their marketability (Flint et al., 2012; Greenwood & Reinardy, 2011; Smith, 2010). This same increase in marketability may improve the performance outcomes and organizational commitment of survivors (Gardner, Wright, & Moynihan, 2011; Greenwood & Reinardy, 2011; Schmitt et al., 2012; Sitlington & Marshall, 2011). Focusing on knowledge retention may significantly enhance the performance of organizations' workgroups post layoff initiatives.

Some employees may work harder when challenged with the possibility of layoffs. However, management should not rely on this as an outcome to announcing layoffs because assuming additional workload may lead to employee burnout. Studies indicated that burnout can increase motivation to leave an employer (Collie, Shapka, & Perry, 2012; Federici, 2013; Federici & Skaalvik, 2012; Skaalvik & Skaalvik, 2011).

Any attrition that follows layoff procedures places the organization in a weakened position, when compared to its condition prior to layoff procedures.

The manner in which organizational leaders execute layoffs will profoundly influence the level of success it will experience following layoffs. After layoffs, survivors may find difficulty in working with the same enthusiasm and concern that they demonstrated prior to the organizational leaders' layoff initiatives. Organizations whose leaders fail in properly communicating upcoming changes to prepare its workforce for life after layoffs may suffer substantial downturns in employees' productivity and organizational commitment (Malik & Ahmad, 2011; Malik et al., 2010). The future of downsizing organizations may depend on how well the remaining workforce commits to the new structure following layoffs.

Transition and Summary

The purpose of this qualitative phenomenological study was to explore the possible factors that might lead to employees' voluntary attrition subsequent to layoff procedures. Organizations' leaders may use the findings of this study to increase organizational commitment and reduce survivor attrition. I provided insight about the effectiveness of the explanations given to participants by their employer to justify the need for layoffs. Additionally, I explored the lived experience of the participants in an attempt to identify the factors that negatively contributed to participants' organizational commitment. Developing strategies to reduce attrition of employees following layoff procedures may reduce costs associated with employee turnover and enhance organizational efficiencies.

I provided the problem and focus of this study in Section 1: To explore the lived experience of employees who survive layoffs at their place of employment, subsequently to leave said employer of their own volition in pursuit of other opportunities. My role included identifying the participants of this study, the geographical area of concentration, and the methodology of this study. For this study, survivors are those employees who met the eligibility criteria (see Appendix C). The findings of this study may provide insight to scholars, managers and human resources professionals, in understanding how layoffs contribute to voluntary attrition subsequent to layoff initiatives, and thus aid in survivors' retention.

For this study, I identified potential issues that contributed to survivors' attrition. Exploring how individuals cope with stress was central to the foundation of this study, and builds on the work of seminal researchers in the field (Cannon, 1932; Lazarus, 1966, 1999; Selye, 1955). Understanding how layoffs affect organizational commitment may contribute to initiatives that might mitigate the adverse effects of the layoff process. In addition, understanding the concept of survivor syndrome and its accompanying symptoms provided valuable insight to the layoff phenomenon.

Because this study included seeking understanding about the lived experience of survivors of layoffs, to identify issues that lead to survivors' voluntary attrition, qualitative phenomenological research method was appropriate. When using qualitative exploration, researchers must explore a phenomenon in its natural environment gathering information through extensive time in the field (Simon, 2006). The phenomenological design provided an optimal means to collect facts in this study because phenomenologists

attempt to discover common meanings by focusing on people who function in similar environments or who have shared similar experiences (Moustakas, 1994).

In Section 2 of this study, my role included addressing central parts of the research, such as the (a) purpose statement, (b) role of the researcher, (c) participants, (d) data collection, and (e) ethics of this research study. In this section of the study, I provided a deeper understanding about collecting and analyzing answers to assign meaning to the shared lived experiences of participants. Using additional information in this section concerning data collection, organization, and analysis, provided a foundation to demonstrate the validity, reliability, and rigor of this qualitative study.

Section 3 of the research study included recapping prior sections. This section consists of issues including (a) an overview of the study, (b) the findings of the research study, (c) how this study may contribute to positive social change, and (d) recommendations for future actions. I reflected on the research process and concluded Section 3 with a summation and conclusion.

Section 2: The Project

The loss of surviving employees after the lived experience can result in negative impacts to organizations' efficiency, productivity, and profitability (Chipunza & Berry, 2010; Iverson & Zatzick, 2011). How organizational leaders implement layoffs may substantially influence the commitment of remaining employees (Fugate, Prussia, & Kinicki, 2012; Tsai & Yen, 2013). Organizational leaders whose workforces realize voluntary attrition may find their organizations devoid of significant talent, skills, and knowledge required for future success.

My role included exploring why employees of downsizing organizations choose to pursue other employment opportunities. Based on Lazarus' (1966) transactional model of stress, I explored factors that lead to survivor attrition. With more than two-thirds of downsizing initiatives ending in failure (Obilade, 2009), findings of the study might provide insight regarding how leaders may improve their organizations' post layoff performance by enhancing employee retention.

Purpose Statement

The purpose of this qualitative phenomenological study was to explore how organizational leaders may reduce employee voluntary attrition after layoff procedures, but prior to the final reduction in staff. The data for this study consists of participant interviews. Potential benefits of this study may include an evaluation of relationships between management and subordinates, a deeper understanding regarding what human relations policies mediate survivors' intent to leave, and clarity about factors that

negatively affect organizational commitment. In the current study, I explored the psychological and emotional drivers that could lead to employee attrition.

I obtained responses from 20 experienced employees of downsizing unionized industrial organizations within a 50-mile radius of Wausau, Wisconsin. In the current study, a purposeful sampling of former employees explained the issues contributing to their decision to voluntarily sever employment. All severances occurred after layoff procedures commenced, but prior to the attainment of final staff reduction goals. Data collection consisted of digital recordings of all face-to-face interviews and research notes.

Role of the Researcher

I conducted a qualitative phenomenological research study. The role of a phenomenological researcher is to act as an impartial data collector, without judging the answers (Tomkins & Eatough, 2013). In the current study, interviews were the information gathering technique because the objective was to learn from the lived experiences of the participants. My role was to interview participants, transcribe their responses, and analyze the results for themes that move from the particular to the general (Moustakas, 1994), verify the findings, and report those findings as part of the research study.

Researchers must reveal any personal traits or characteristics that may affect the interpretation of data (Moustakas, 1994) via *bracketing*. The bracketing process is a vital part of the qualitative research process that allows researchers to understand participants' responses, known as *epoche*; this process isolates researchers' biases (Moustakas, 1994). After working in an industrial sector for more than two decades, I am familiar with the

companies that have undertaken significant reductions in the workforce via layoffs in Central Wisconsin. In an attempt to comply with Moustakas' (1994) concept of using reduction, bracketing, and imaginative variation processes to keep researcher biases minimized, I bracketed any personal opinions and biases concerning my experiences as a non-management employee of an organization that announced layoff initiatives, and viewed interview responses from various perspectives. My role included transcribing each interview and extracting common themes. Participants reviewed the transcripts to see if I accurately captured the lived experience. Each person viewed the event from a unique position and may have a different interpretation.

Participants

The population of the research study consisted of members from unionized trade groups. I contacted heads of local unions for lists of names and contact information identifying members who have changed employers since 2006, and their current employers, thus providing a population of potential participants. Narrowing the identified group for purposeful selection included focusing on employees who voluntarily left downsizing organizations subsequent to the lived experience. I contacted each potential participant via telephone and (a) requested their assistance with the research study, (b) asked how long they worked for the downsizing organization, and (c) asked if they left the organization voluntarily. Subsequently, I provided a copy of the informed consent form to those individuals who volunteered to participate in the study (see Appendix A).

Candidates for the study shared characteristics that substantiated the validity of the research. I purposefully selected candidates associated with an unionized industrial facility. The criteria for selection were that each candidate must have gained journey-level status from a state indentured apprenticeship program spanning a minimum of 4 years. All participants were at least 18 years of age and had a minimum of 4 years continuous employment with the downsizing organization. Participants left the downsizing organizations of their choice after layoff procedures but prior to the final reduction in staff. Participants declared their number of years of continuous employment with their former downsizing organization and stated if they left voluntarily prior to signing the informed consent form. These requirements for participants to gain inclusion to the study provided validity that the study meets stated intentions.

Solid working relationships between researcher and participants are essential in qualitative research (Simon, 2006). To establish strong working relationships, I informed the candidates of the intent of this research as part of the informed consent process. My role included assuring candidates of the confidentiality of the study, along with communicating and acting in a respectful and ethical manner.

The research effort included several steps to assure that the study maintained ethical standards (Tracy, 2010). My first step to assuring ethical research of the study was to take the Walden University preferred certification and subsequently petition Walden University's Institutional Review Board (IRB) for permission to conduct the study. A minimum sample size of 20 participants was appropriate for this research study and determined large enough to reach data saturation (Morse, 2000) whereby nothing new

emerged from collecting additional information (O'Reilly & Parker, 2013). If interviewing 20 participants had failed to provide saturation, interviews would have continued. This sample size was also small enough to allow the requisite in-depth interviews to develop accurate transcriptions of the participants' responses (Tracy, 2010). Each participant received an informed consent form to sign prior to engaging in any interviews (see Appendix A). By labeling participants' interview responses with coded designators, their identities remained private. The consent forms and interview information of the participants will remain in separate secure locations for a period of 5 years.

Research Method and Design

I employed a qualitative phenomenological research design with purposeful sampling of participants in this study. Capturing the essence of human experience concerning a phenomenon from the perspective of participants was the intent of phenomenological design (Tracy, 2010). The goal in this study was to understand how layoff initiatives may affect employee turnover intentions and to identify potential strategies for reducing future voluntary separations and reduced performance. Husserl started phenomenology as a philosophical movement that focused on the nature of experience from the point of view of the person experiencing the phenomenon (Connelly, 2010). A descriptive phenomenological approach was best for the current study because the goal was to explore the lived experiences of participants, without allowing any presuppositions or biases to affect the study.

The study included conducting interviews using open-ended interview questions that allowed participants to provide considerable detail in their responses. The interview questions covered the lived experiences of employees at three points in their relationship with their past employers. The points of concentration are pre-layoff announcements, time of layoff announcements, and post layoff announcements. Phenomenologists focus on individuals who share similar experiences, and attempt to discover commonalities and shared meanings (Simon, 2006). Phenomenological research was most appropriate for this study because the intent was to learn from the lived experience of these employees. I explored how layoff procedures might contribute to reduced employee organizational commitment and identified potential countermeasures to reduce voluntary employee turnover.

Method

This research study was an exploration of lived experiences of employees of downsizing organizations, who chose voluntarily to exit the downsizing organizations after implementing layoff procedures. I employed a qualitative research method to explore how layoffs affect employees from the participants who lived through this experience. Aligning with the selected phenomenological design approach, I used indepth personal interviews with the chosen participants to obtain information that frames, identifies, and characterize their experiences during organizational downsizing via layoffs.

The method of study and the design of the study should comply with the intent of the study. Quantitative methods facilitate obtaining generalizable data by seeking to

reduce human actions to variables, represented by numeric values (Simon, 2006) and, therefore, were not ideal for this study. Qualitative exploration brings the reader closer to the phenomenon by gathering contradictory (a) emotions, (b) opinions, (c) beliefs, and (d) behaviors that quantitative designs cannot provide (Bansal & Corley, 2011). When using qualitative designs researchers must explore a phenomenon in its natural environment gathering information through extensive time in the field (Tracy, 2010). When using a mixed methods methodology, the researcher merges the findings of both qualitative and quantitative methods to provide a better understanding of the issue than is possible using either method individually (Palinkas, Aarons, Horwitz, Chamberlain, Hurlburt, & Landsverk, 2011). I did not use a mixed methods methodology because the goal was to capture the lived experiences of the participants, and quantitative data are not appropriate for capturing lived experiences. Using a qualitative method satisfied the objectives in this exploration.

Research Design

I matched the design of the study with the qualitative method. Researchers can categorize qualitative exploration as explanatory, interpretive, or critical studies intended to (a) describe the state of conditions, (b) generate hypothesis, (c) formulate theory, or (d) explore association (Portney & Watkins, 2009). In this study, I used a phenomenological design. Other possible qualitative designs include (a) ethnography which is helpful when exploring cultural phenomena, (b) case study which uses data gathered from multiple sources to explore underlying principles of events, individuals, or groups bound by time or space, (c) narrative which consists of participants telling stories about their lived

experiences, and (d) grounded theory which forms a theory to fit the findings (Bluhm, Harman, Lee, & Mitchell, 2011; Moustakas, 1994; Toloie-Eshlaghy et al., 2011) and were not suited for this study. Each of these methods involves face-to-face interviews, data collection on site or long periods reviewing the actions of layoff survivors. In this research study, I explored the lived experiences of individuals who lived through a phenomenon as told in their words. Because my role included avoiding any opinions from the participants' retelling of the events as they occurred, the study included using semistructured interviews with open-ended interview questions. Semistructured interviews allowed participants to answer the same questions in as much detail as they wished, and I extracted common themes without attempting to manipulate the participants' words. The phenomenological design offered the most applicable means to gather the desired information of the study.

I employed a phenomenological research design in the study to learn from the lived experiences of employees experiencing layoffs. Savage-Austin and Honeycutt (2011) noted that the purpose of qualitative exploration is to investigate, observe, and understand a social phenomenon. Consistent with Simon (2006), my role as researcher included summarizing the lived experiences of participants to understand the subjective reality surrounding the event under exploration. I collected information from participants of the study using in-depth personal interviews, digital recordings of the interviews, and field notes.

The study included exploring factors that may reduce employee attrition following layoff procedures from the perspective of those who lived through such

announcements. The first-person events known as phenomena are the only objects or events that exist for perceptual participants (Moustakas, 1994). What begins as a quick impression of an event grows in depth and meaning as participants continually reflect on the experience of the event (Moustakas, 1994). The phenomenological research design followed the general processes of reduction, epoche, imaginative variation, and synthesis of meanings (Moustakas, 1994). By developing a phenomenological reduction process that asks the appropriate questions required finding an explanatory structure free of biases; researchers can improve their understanding and interpretation of the world as it relates to human experiences (Moustakas, 1994). Bracketing forces investigators to develop the proper skills to obtain the correct interpretation of the phenomenon under review by requiring self-reflection on potential prejudices and biases (Moustakas, 1994). To obtain various meanings of a phenomenon, Moustakas (1994) recommended imaginative variation, which uses different vantage points from various participants to alter their frame of reference. This change of perspectives may afford researchers the ability to remain unencumbered by their preconceptions about a phenomenon.

During the late 1950s, van Kaam developed his scientific analysis method to describe and analyze qualitative data (Anderson & Eppard, 1998). I captured information using interviews and open-ended questions designed to gain knowledge and understanding about human experiences. The van Kaam method was appropriate for this study because the purpose of this method was to obtain the essence of the experience under review, with the assumption that all individuals experiencing an event would provide a uniquely personal account (Anderson & Eppard, 1998). My role included

using a modified van Kaam method to explore the meaning of layoff from the perspective of those who lived through layoff procedures, subsequently grouping phrases and themes that recur in participant interviews to create thematic categories. Consistent with the views of Moustakas (1994), my role included reading the transcripts of interviews multiple times and taking notes to reduce the number of categories of themes and move from the specific to the generalizable.

A qualitative phenomenological design was appropriate for the study. In contrast, scholars associate quantitative studies philosophically to the concept that all meaningful statements are either analytic or conclusively verifiable (Portney & Watkins, 2009). According to Simon (2006), quantitative researchers employ experiments and affix numerical values to human actions, but these methods were not appropriate for this study thereby eliminating quantitative methods. The objective of this study was to learn from the lived experiences of participants, and explore an event from the participants' perspectives. Simon additionally stated that a qualitative, phenomenological approach was the best way to capture the perspectives of participants' lived experiences. I obtained information from 20 experienced former employees of downsizing unionized industrial organizations within a 50-mile radius of Wausau, Wisconsin, who experienced layoff procedures to participate in the study. Each of these participants possessed a unique perspective from which to view the layoff phenomenon.

Population and Sampling

I conducted the study within a 50-mile radius of Wausau, Wisconsin and consisted of interviewing 20 journeyman level artisans. My role included asking each

person to volunteer as a member of the study. The study included assuring participants of their right to decline involvement with the research with no questions asked or explanations required. Solicitation occurred by contacting individuals via their telephone number on union records requesting involvement and addressing any preliminary concerns. Participants met the following criteria: attainment of journey-level craftsman status, 4 years of employment with a downsizing organization prior to layoff procedures, at least 18 years of age, and each left the downsizing organization of their own volition subsequent to the initiation of, and prior to the conclusion of, layoff procedures.

There is no clear definition in determining the number of participants to include in a study, to reach saturation. The required number of members depends on factors including (a) quality of data, (b) the scope of the study, (c) the amount of useful information gathered from each interviewee, (d) the number of interviews per person, and (e) the qualitative method and study design used (Francis et al., 2010; Morse, 2000). In the case of phenomenological studies, the required number of interviewees range from 6 to 10 (Morse, 2000) when using open-ended interview questions which lead to obtaining more usable information per participant. I interviewed 20 journey-level artisans from Central Wisconsin in this study. This sample size was appropriate for this phenomenological research because it was large enough for achieving data saturation, wherein interviews continued until no new information emerged. This minimum sample size of 20 members was small enough to allow the requisite in-depth interviews to develop accurate transcriptions of the responses (Tracy, 2010). The sampling process

included selecting workers who voluntarily severed employment from downsizing organizations following announcements of layoff intentions.

Identifying participants through purposeful sampling ensured the requisite experience of the phenomenon regarding employee voluntary attrition subsequent to organizational announcement of layoff intentions was present for the study. Purposeful sampling was the most applicable form of non-probability-based sampling for identifying suitable participants for this study (Turner, 2010). There was little information available concerning the central theme of this study, and purposeful sampling was the best means to capture the desired information. All contributors possessed a predetermined set of traits and characteristics (Suri, 2011). These characteristics included attainment of journey-level status as a craftsman, 4 years of employment with a downsizing organization prior to layoff procedures, at least 18 years of age, and each left the downsizing organization of their own volition subsequent to the initiation, and prior to the conclusion of layoff procedures. Random sampling may not yield a population of employees who voluntarily elected to leave a downsizing organization post layoff announcement and, therefore, was not appropriate for this study.

After contacting heads of local unions for names, employers, and information identifying members who have changed employers since 2006, I contacted potential members requesting their consent to partake in this study. The 20 artisans who agreed to partake in this research study received an informed consent form, assurance of their privacy via the informed consent process, and a briefing detailing the criteria for inclusion in the study. Participants answered the same series of questions that established

their eligibility for inclusion (a) how long they worked at the downsizing organization, (b) if they left the organization voluntarily, and (c) if they were state indentured journeyman level at the time of layoff procedures. Subsequently each contributor received a copy of the informed consent form to sign (see Appendix A). A review of the content of the signed consent form occurred prior to engaging in face-to-face interviews.

After signing the informed consent form, participants received information regarding the need to reserve 90 minutes for the face-to-face interview and approximately 30 minutes for the follow-up member check interview. These interviews occurred over a 2-week time span; the amount of time required for each phase of the data collection process was not exact, but 90 minutes represented an accepted timeframe (Englander, 2012; Roulston, 2010). I discussed the use of a digital voice recorder and hand written notes during interviews and offered assurance that their identity would remain confidential as part of the study. Additional duties included taking steps to establish trust with members during preliminary talks about interviews for this study (Englander, 2012). Conducting interviews at a mutually agreed upon location aided in providing the participants a relaxed and comfortable environment. Whenever possible, I conducted interviews in my home office, free of distractions and possible interruptions. Alternately, the Wausau public library offers meeting rooms by appointment that provided the requisite space for the interview process of this study if preferred. This study included providing contributors a one-page summary of the findings, which was hand delivered within 60 days of finalizing the research.

Ethical Research

The value of any research study may suffer irrevocably if the ethics of the study are questionable. Leedy and Ormrod (2005) noted that researchers are to avoid exposing participants to undue harm, whether physical or psychological. Solicited employees responded to the interview request only if they opted voluntarily to participate. Engagement with contributors occurred after receiving the IRB approval number 06-30-14-0305301. Contributors learned about the purpose, goals, and anticipated audience of the study through the informed consent process. Partakers were free to withdraw from the study with no question or inquiry, nor experience repudiation, simply by contacting me via the information provided in the contact information section of the informed consent form (see Appendix A). To avoid perceptions of influencing participants' responses, this study protocol did not include providing any compensation to contributors. My role incorporated establishing and maintaining participant privacy and security by assigning a coded designator to all members. This designator allowed for identification and retrieval of information collected and is of no use without a code key that I maintain in a locked fireproof safe that is inaccessible to anyone else. Additional safeguards included storing all details pertaining to this study in separate secured fireproof safes in my home for a period of 5 years. Prior to conducting any interviews, all participants received and signed informed consent forms (see Appendix A).

Data Collection

Instruments

I selected a qualitative method because the research methodology must match the intent of the study. In conjunction with this qualitative method, I chose a phenomenological design to explore the lived experiences of participants. My role included using face-to-face interviews to collect information from participants and conducting these interviews under similar conditions for all participants, in addition to providing a location at my home, for conducting interviews free of distractions. This setting facilitated capturing the essence of the phenomenon from the perspective of non-affected employees (Tracy, 2010). Using semistructured interviews with open-ended questions allowed participants to give in-depth responses. To obtain consistency in the study, each participant answered the same questions (see Appendix B).

The treatment of participants in this research was respectful and dignified throughout the study. Beyond recalling their lived experience, participating in this non-experimental study should not have caused the participants any adverse effects. My role included providing a list of local depression therapists to any participant suffering from recalling their lived experience. In an effort to protect the rights of participants, all information pertaining to this study will remain in a secure location in my home for 5 years.

Data Collection Technique

I used a qualitative phenomenological design that encompassed data collection and interpretation, consistent with the views of Bernard (2013). Qualitative studies are

primarily inductive and derive meaning by categorizing findings and identifying relationships within a specific social context as perceived by the people involved (Portney & Watkins, 2009). Unlike quantitative methods, which reduce human actions to numerical values, this qualitative study did not require hypothesis testing or numerical justification for the findings (Tracy, 2010). All participants of this study shared a common lived experience and answered the same interview questions (see Appendix B).

The data collection process for this study consisted of conducting face-to-face interviews in conjunction with audio captured on a handheld digital recorder. My experience with the chosen recording device included using it for capturing more than 100 hours of lectures. The use of a modified van Kaam 7 step analysis approach (Moustakas,1994), in conjunction with NVivo 10 qualitative data analysis software aided in verifying and cross checking the accuracy of coding and analyzing the collection of findings pertaining to the lived experience of layoffs. Audio recordings alone may not have captured possible participant anxiety or irritation about a particular question, and notes provided insight about issues that may have caused stress to contributors and thus adding rigor to the study (Tracy, 2010). This study also included using field notes to capture any relevant body language or behaviors during the interviewing process consistent with Tracy (2010).

Because I conducted a phenomenological study and used semistructured interview questions, this research did not warrant a pilot study. The participants' responses to the interview questions demonstrated the adequacy of the questions to capture the desired information. If the interview questions were ineffective in obtaining the desired lived

experience during the interview process, I would have resubmitted the study to Walden's IRB to ensure ethical compliance. After gaining approval from the IRB, I made all required adjustments to the interview protocol (see Appendix C).

Data Organization Techniques

My role included using a filing system based on coded designators, assigning each participant an identifier for organizing the collection of information, and associating each identifier with a file that included interview transcripts and notes. After transcribing the interview responses, a modified van Kaam approach aided in gaining a deeper understanding of the phenomenon under investigation. To further identify themes and allow for proper coding of the information, I entered all findings into NVivo 10 qualitative data analysis software. Additional duties included saving all interview findings, and other information from this study to an external hard drive and storing it in a secure fireproof safe at my home, where it will remain for a period of 5 years.

Data Analysis Technique

I used the 7 step modified van Kaam approach for data analysis (Moustakas, 1994), with NVivo 10 qualitative data analysis software. Hutchison, Johnston, and Breckon (2010) stated this type of software is invaluable to researchers who wish to analyze and understand qualitative findings. Using the software improves confidence that the coding of information has consistent results throughout the analytical process (Hutchison, Johnston, & Breckon, 2010).

Before conducting any interviews, participants granted permission allowing me to record their lived experience descriptions during the interview process, per the informed

consent form (see Appendix A). My role included interviewing each participant and capturing the findings via digital voice recordings and research notes. If any questions had arisen from the responses based upon the recordings and notes, my role would have included arranging follow-up interviews. Prior to formally coding and analyzing the findings, each member had the opportunity to review the transcription of their interview to validate that the transcription accurately captured their lived experience (Mero-Jaffe, 2011). I organized the interview responses and entered the findings into NVivo 10 qualitative software for analysis to aid in understanding how layoffs contributed to employees leaving downsizing organizations (For themes data, see Appendix D). The coded thematic findings of this study may aid in extracting subjective meaning of participants changing employers, after layoff procedures.

The nature of the interview questions could have substantially influenced the outcome of this research. The interview questions in this study were open-ended, with the intent of answering the central question of the problem statement. Specifically, the following interview questions addressed why employees leave in pursuit of other opportunities subsequent to the announcement of layoff intentions.

- In as much detail as possible, please recall a typical day at work prior to announcements of a possibility of layoffs.
- 2. In as much detail as possible, please recall the day of layoff announcements.
- 3. What thoughts crossed your mind about the organization as management made the announcements, and you realized who would be released?

- 4. In as much detail as possible, please recall the day at work, after the announcements of layoff, in which you decided to leave.
- 5. What factors led to your decision to leave?
- 6. What was the tipping point at which you decided to leave?
- 7. Based upon your experiences, what, if anything, could management have done to change your decision to resign voluntarily?

With the use of the modified van Kaam method, I clustered the themes, identified and developed the subsequent theme descriptions for further analysis of the collected information.

NVivo 10 qualitative data analysis software compares words and phrases to develop (a) themes, (b) subthemes, (c) categories, and (d) tags through its word recognition ability and auto-coding function (James, 2012). I sorted all identified themes by relevance to this study, with the use of the van Kaam seven-step method and NVivo 10 qualitative data analysis software. I identified responses that addressed the research questions and problem statement as well as those providing insights for how organizational leaders might retain employees, after layoff procedures. Collecting data that improved the understanding of employee retention subsequent to layoff procedures was the intent of collecting information in this study.

Cannon's (1932) cognitive activation theory of stress is the primary basis for the conceptual framework of this study. Cannon posited that humans can handle stress in small quantities and for short durations, but not as well in large quantities or over long periods. I explored if employees view layoff initiatives as significant enough stressors to

compel them to leave an employer. As such, others may use the findings of this study to counter factors of the layoff process that contribute to the breakdown of employees' organizational commitment.

The findings, related to Cannon's (1932) cognitive activation theory of stress that shows that people experiencing exposure to stress in large doses, or for long periods of time, may suffer physical or psychological challenges. This theory along with previous works on human stress (Lazarus, 1966; Ursin & Eriksen, 2004; Ursin & Eriksen, 2010) provided the conceptual framework for this study. How an employee deals with the stress of layoff, could contribute significantly to a person's desire to remain a part of the downsizing organization.

The expectancy theory postulated that stress acts as an alarm when occurring events are inconsistent with expected events (Ursin & Eriksen, 2004), helped form a key component of the conceptual framework of this study. Researchers have suggested that an individual's expected outcomes of a situation strongly influences the output in a given situation, based on the value affixed to the outcome by the participant (Liao et al., 2011). The findings of this study may show that some level of discomfort between expectation and reality contributed to the attrition of layoff survivors or the employees perceived the outcomes of leaving held greater value than the outcomes of staying.

The theory of psychological contracts between employees and the employer contributed to the conceptual framework of this study. Whenever there is a change in the relationship between employer and employee, it creates an entirely new relationship (Chaudhry, Wayne, & Schalk, 2009). The findings of this study supported the belief that

employees, who chose to leave downsizing organizations subsequent to the announcements of layoffs, perceived the announcement as a compromise to the implied psychological contract between them and their employer.

Prior to accepting change, layoff survivors may go into denial about the reality of their new work situation. How employees react to workplace stressors may depend on the established organizational culture (Linnenluecke & Griffiths 2010; Oreg et al., 2011). Organizational workforces with an established culture of sharing knowledge tend to be more ready for change than organizational leaders who fail to promote such practices of knowledge sharing (Wang & Noe, 2010). Based on the writings of Lazarus (1966), findings from this study may or may not show that some stimuli in the work environment (for example layoffs) cause stress that leave the employees no choice but to cope, avoid, or leave the organization.

The more direct ties and personal relationships members of the group develop, the stronger their commitment to sharing knowledge with others in the group (Wang & Noe, 2010). The level of readiness for change by the collective is contingent on and shaped by group norms (Vakola, 2013). If these group norms are to provide any insight on predictable behavior, the individual must identify strongly with the reference group (Vakola, 2013). If members of a group share common objectives, similar characteristics, or appearance the group may develop entitativity, then observers see the group as a single entity as compared to the various members who make up the group (Crump et al., 2010). How employees may respond to change in the workplace may be an unknown, but

identifying organizational culture and the level of group entitativity may provide predictability of behavior

The findings of this study may be beneficial in predicting how survivors will respond if they perceive layoffs as unfair or poorly executed. The theory of reasoned action (RA) states that, individuals typically respond to situational stimuli in a predictable manner (Ajzen & Fishbein, 1977). The themes and codes in this study may demonstrate a level of support for the conceptual framework.

Reliability and Validity

The value of any research is dependent on the level of confidence others place in the findings. Quantitative investigators demonstrate reliability and validity, whereas qualitative scholars demonstrate rigor to establish trust and confidence in the findings of a study (Thomas & Magilvy, 2011). Guba (1981) suggested that qualitative investigators seek to achieve *trustworthiness*, which is the equivalent to quantitative validity. Qualitative researchers strive to achieve trustworthiness through the use of four constructs: (a) dependability (the qualitative analogue to reliability), (b) credibility (the qualitative analogue to internal validity), (c), transferability (the qualitative analogue to external validity/generalizability), and (d) confirmability (the qualitative analogue to objectivity) (Shenton, 2004). Using these constructs provides qualitative scholars a means to match the criteria utilized by positivist investigators by addressing similar concerns (Shenton, 2004).

Dependability/Reliability

Research that others cannot replicate may hold little value in the scientific community. Reliability by definition is the ability of others to replicate a study and derive similar results (Zikmund &Babin, 2012). In qualitative investigation, dependability is analogous to reliability.

Dependability. To increase the integrity of qualitative exploration, investigators develop specific criteria (Sousa, 2014). The differences in terminology between qualitative and quantitative inquiry methods tend to undermine the rigor of qualitative investigation, although many terms are interchangeable (Anderson, 2010). Using a consistent interview protocol (see Appendix C) for each participant and asking the same interview questions (see Appendix A) aided in assuring dependability of this study. Utilizing recordings and field notes allowed verbatim transcription in the contributor's' words thus reducing the likelihood of bias. Consistent with the recommendation of Shenton (2004), I reflected on the effectiveness of the process of inquiry to evaluate possible improvements.

Validity/Trustworthiness

It is imperative that the findings from qualitative exploration be trustworthy if readers are to attain ample confidence to make decisions from the findings of the study (Tracy, 2010). To demonstrate trustworthiness, which is analogous with validity, of the qualitative method and phenomenological research design, I documented all steps and procedures of this study. I structured the interview process to be consistent with the procedures outlined by Moustakas (1994), whereby interviews take place in a controlled

environment, at a mutually agreed location. I conducted each interview in a consistent manner (see Appendix C) to provide a common basis for understanding outcomes.

The primary objective for qualitative inquiry is to reduce researcher bias or false interpretations by identifying valid information that supports the design concept (Bernard, 2013). When discussing validity/trustworthiness in qualitative investigation it is essential to distinguish between credibility and transferability, which are the quantitative equivalent to internal and external validity respectively. According to Shenton (2004), when establishing trustworthiness, ensuring credibility is one of the most crucial factors.

Credibility. By conducting purposeful sampling of participants and conducting all interviews in a similar setting (Tracy, 2010), I improved credibility of the interview process. Consistent with the recommendation of O'Reilly and Parker (2013), my role included interviewing participants until no new information arose, thereby establishing saturation. After transcribing the interviews, my role included triangulating the findings via member checking (Thomas & Magilvy, 2011) by asking participants to review the summary of their transcripts for accuracy. I used member checking along with clarifying questions during the interview process to assure the accuracy of the transcriptions.

Accurately capturing the essence of the lived experience of the event under review, as affirmed by participants, is indicative of content validity as maintained by Lasch,

Marquis, Vigneux, Abetz, Arnould, Bayliss, Crawford, and Rosa (2010). Consistent with the writings of Moustakas (1994), I bracketed any biases or preconceived opinions about the study in field notes.

My role included contacting participants via personal cell phones a few days prior to their scheduled interviews. The purpose of these phone calls was to develop an association with the study participants and confirm the time and place of the actual interviews. In an effort to enhance the trust participants extended to this study, I disclosed any personal experience with the layoff phenomenon as part of the initial conversation to establish strong working relationships (Shenton, 2004). Disclosing all biases and personal issues in the study via bracketing aided in reducing potential problems (Bluhm, Harman, Lee, & Mitchell, 2011; Moustakas, 1994). I purposefully selected all participants of this study to assure that they were all members of a skilled trade and was aware of layoff initiatives by their employer prior to leaving in pursuit of employment elsewhere.

Transferability. In qualitative exploration, the extent to which a person's study findings have applicability in another context defines transferability of the findings (Thomas & Magilvy, 2011). Transferability in qualitative inquiry is analogous with *external validity* in quantitative examination (Shenton, 2004). To ensure transferability, part of this research effort included providing in-depth specific details about the type of work groups, the geographic location, and the type of industry that was under review. I documented all steps and procedures of this study. By including this type of information other investigators might be able to develop conclusions about the generalizability of this study to a similar context and might thereby promote what quantitative scholars (Thomas & Magilvy, 2011; Tracy, 2010) define as external validity.

Confirmability. Consistent with the recommendation of Shenton (2004), my role included ensuring that the findings of this study were the result of the lived experiences of the participants, rather than my preferences and biases. Achieving confirmability required me to disclose possible biases and personal issues in the study. As maintained by Thomas and Magilvy (2011), achieving confirmability is the investigator's responsibility. I complied by recording and transcribing each interview verbatim and using notes to capture opinions about each interaction. I assured the consistency of the use and interpretation of (a) the interview protocol used in the study (see Appendix C), (b) field notes, and (c) the summation review of the transcriptions to strengthen confirmabilty. Adhering to my interview protocol (see Appendix C) and maintaining precise notes concerning the data collection process aided in conformity.

Transition and Summary

In Section 2 of the study, my role included identifying gaps in the literature review pertaining to employee reaction to organizational downsizing. I chose a qualitative method with phenomenological design as the most applicable means to explore the reasons why employees voluntarily leave downsizing organizations following layoff procedures. Conducting face-to-face interviews with employees who voluntarily left downsizing organizations after layoff procedures provided a deeper understanding of the phenomenon of living through layoffs. The findings of this study could provide an insight and understanding to organizational leaders and human resources professionals about the cause of employee attrition following layoff procedures. This knowledge may lead to a change in how organizational leaders view their layoff strategy, and catalyze

developing a process that focuses on retaining surviving employees. Section 3 includes conclusions of the research, explanation of the findings, and possibilities for future exploration. I presented this study's findings of issues that might reduce employee attrition after announcements of layoff intentions.

Section 3: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Change

The purpose for this qualitative phenomenological study was to explore the lived experiences and perceptions of 20 experienced journeyman level artisans of downsizing industrial facilities located within a 50-mile radius of Wausau, Wisconsin. This exploration led to the determination of the significant issues that influenced participants to quit their jobs voluntarily, following announcements of intent to implement layoff procedures. My role included recording, transcribing and analyzing all interviews by themes using Moustakas' (1994) modified van Kaam method of analysis. The central research question of inquiry was: What information do organizational leaders need to reduce employee voluntary attrition after initiating layoff procedures, prior to the final reduction in staff?

The modified van Kaam method of data analysis (Moustakas, 1994) was an appropriate approach for this study. The method allowed me to separate the phenomenological findings into themes after conducting the interviews, based upon participant recollection of the experiences of the layoff process shared during the interviews. The subsequent identification and development of theme clusters allowed me to prepare the findings for further analysis.

The interviews provided substantive responses identifying issues related to the decisions of employees who voluntarily severed employment with downsizing organizations, subsequent to learning about planned implementation of layoff procedures.

These identified issues related to voluntary attrition may provide key insights and

practical ways in which management could improve their level of talent retention, subsequent to announcing their intent to implement layoff procedures.

Overview of Study

The purpose for this phenomenological research study was to explore how organizational leaders might avoid losing experienced employees during times of organizational change. More specifically, the purpose was to explore the lived experiences of 20 experienced journeyman level artisans within a 50-mile radius of Wausau, Wisconsin to gain understanding about the issues and experiences that affected employee turnover following the announcement of layoff intentions.

This study included using semistructured interviews to collect data from 20 journeyman level artisans within the geographic area. The interviews consisted of seven questions that correlated with the primary research question (see Appendix B). During face-to-face interviews, I asked each participant to respond to the same seven open-ended questions. Because the study was exploratory and theme building in nature, participants received encouragement to reply to every question with as much detail as they liked. This relaxed approach allowed participants to be as tangential as they wished, and facilitated a deeper, more descriptive exchange concerning the lived experiences of those participants who had first-hand knowledge of the layoff process.

The study design allowed me to explore the lived experiences of experienced artisans, who witnessed layoff announcements and subsequently opted to change employers. According to Moustakas (1994), phenomenology is appropriate for capturing the essence of an experience, with this purpose in mind; a phenomenological

methodology was appropriate for this research study. Phenomenology provided a structured methodology to capture the lived experiences of participants as they witnessed the layoff process and how this phenomenon affected their organizational commitment.

I used a modified van Kaam methodology to evaluate the collected qualitative information. Using the modified van Kaam, resulted in drawing conclusions from the coded transcriptions of the recorded interviews. Consistent with Moustakas (1994), using the modified van Kaam permitted the capturing of the essence of the experience of living through the announcement of layoffs and the issues that contributed to voluntary attrition by members of the downsizing organizations.

After checking each interview with the appropriate participant for accuracy, I typed each interview transcript into NVivo-10 software for coding and theme analysis.

To ensure anonymity, each participant received a coded identifier from P1to P20.

Reading the interviews several times, reducing, and eliminating redundant themes

(Moustakas, 1994) allowed me to derive a manageable number of substantive themes.

Using this analysis process, nine themes emerged as a foundation for recommendations for possible social change and professional practice. The findings from this study include the identified themes from the interviews (see Appendix D).

Presentation of the Findings

The intent for this qualitative phenomenological research study was to answer one overarching research question: What information do organizational leaders need to reduce employee voluntary attrition after initiating layoff procedures, prior to the final reduction in staff? To answer this question, I developed interview questions (see

Appendix B) that addressed why employees voluntarily elected to leave downsizing organizations. The findings from this research study provided understanding about how layoffs, can affect organizational commitment. This study consisted of interviewing 20 experienced employees of downsizing unionized industrial organizations within a 50-mile radius of Wausau, Wisconsin. The 20 participants signed consent forms to participate in the study (see Appendix A). The data stemmed from the participants' responses to open-ended questions (See Appendix B). My role included recording all interviews and verifying all findings by using member checking.

I transcribed the interviews verbatim and prepared them for data analysis. After recording and transcribing the interviews, to develop the findings I analyzed participants' lived experiences using NVivo 10 software. I interpreted results using Moustakas' (1994) modified van Kaam method of analysis. Moustakas developed the modified van Kaam method.

Moustakas' modified van Kaam method of analysis steps that I followed to develop the findings were:

- 1. Listing and preliminary grouping.
- 2. Reduction and elimination.
- 3. Clustering and thematizing the invariant constituents.
- 4. Final identification of the invariant constituents and themes by application.
- 5. Construct an individual textural description for each participant.
- 6. Construct an individual structural description based on each participant's experience.

7. Using the themes and invariant constituents to construct a textural description for each participant of the meanings and essences of the experience.

I triangulated the findings via member checking (Thomas & Magilvy, 2011) by asking the participants to review my summary and interpretation of their transcripts for accuracy. The results in this study addressed the research questions and factors that contributed to experienced employees choosing to change employers following the announcement of layoff intentions.

Emergent Themes

The themes collected in the interview process are as follows:

- Job Insecurity
- Entitativity
- Mental and Emotional Stressors
- Communication
- Employee Perception of Management
- Violation of the Implied Psychological Contract
- Trust
- Training and Education
- Organizational Process Issues

The emergent themes from the study influenced employee voluntary attrition following the announcements of planned layoff initiatives. Participants of this study discussed the various issues that led to their decision to seek other employment. The purpose for the study was to understand the common issues that influenced experienced

employees to leave their jobs using lived experiences of the journeyman level employees. The themes presented in the findings provide organizational leaders and HR professionals an opportunity to retain experienced employees during times of organizational change.

Theme 1: Job Insecurity. Consistent with the work of Greenhalgh (1983), the fear of losing their jobs emerged as a significant contributing factor for employees electing to sever employment with the downsizing organizations. Of the 20 interviews conducted, 19 of the participants (95%) suggested that they had some degree of insecurity about their future employability with the downsizing organization. The threat of possible job loss proved to be a pivotal variable, when deciding whether to remain with a downsizing organization.

The threat of job loss was a legitimate stressor to those experiencing it. In this study, 95% of the participants cited job insecurity as a contributing factor in their decision to leave the organization. How participants handled the stress of job insecurity correlated with the CATS (Ursin and Eriksen, 2004), that demonstrated that people will receive a threat alarm when something is missing in their perception of the expected reality, and this discrepancy will elicit the triggering of some form of coping mechanism. The coping mechanism employed by the participants was that of avoidance, whereby they chose to remove themselves from the stressor. Consistent with the findings of Ursin and Eriksen (2010), the decision to leave the downsizing organization signaled the end of any previously held beliefs and expectations about the organization, because the participants believed there was no chance of influencing the outcome of the stressful event. A sampling of the theme within interviews is as follows:

I think it was at that point that everyone in the entire place changed their attitude and were asking like who's next, how far is this going, are we going to have any viable machines when this is all said and done? I think it was during this time that I made the decision that I was going to look for something else. (P6)

I thought we could be bought and sold over a martini at lunch because we were that much smaller now. (P1)

I think it impacted me probably more personal, I don't think I was too worried about anybody else when they were getting laid off, I believe I was more concerned about where I was going to end up. (P9)

You could feel the tension; people were not happy, they were moving jobs people were worried about their livelihood I don't know if there was anything exact or specific, but you know there was tension. (P9)

I decided to seek employment elsewhere that may offer a little better longevity. (P3) That really wasn't much of a decision for me because the uncertainties would still be there no matter what. So I made a choice to leave, just so I would not have to deal with the stress there, there's too much stress in life to be worried about your job from day-to-day. (P18)

I didn't want to have to live with the day-to-day idea that they could be the last day of work fact or reality. (P4)

The stress associated with job insecurity can lead to employee attrition if an individual deems a threat as too formidable to ignore (Arnold & Staffelbach, 2012; Meurs & Perrewé, 2011). Employees who believe there is no way to minimize the effects of the

threat may leave the organization to avoid the stress (Arnold & Staffelbach, 2012; Meurs & Perrewé, 2011). Many of the participants spoke about the effect of job insecurity on their organizational commitment.

Theme 2: Entitativity. The loss of close friends and coworkers may trigger employees to leave an organization implementing layoffs (Rooney et al., 2010; Yousafzai et al., 2010). In this study, all participants were journeyman level artisans, experienced in their craft. Many of the participants (95%) had formed close relationships and identified themselves as part of a craft group, and not just as another employee. Consistent with the findings of Campbell (1958) these craft groups evolved into more than an aggregate of individuals. The three factors that determine entitativity include proximity, similarity, and common fate (Campbell, 1958). These artisans shared the same educational background, lived in the same geographical location, and worked for organizations whose employees were undergoing layoffs, thus satisfying all of the factors required that determine entitativity. A sampling of the theme within interviews is as follows: They are always talking about family coming first and all that stuff, when you work at a place for a long time that is your family, and then they go and throw you under the bus, they can come to your face and tell you that they're laying you off, that ain't right. (P5) I think for me, between the mechanics I&E and pipefitters, I think we all had our own little squabbles. (P9)

You still try to work as hard as you can. I did notice some people leaving, leaving rather quickly actually, they found something and decided to go somewhere else, and then that affected the group is as a whole as well, there was kind of a ripple effect. (P12)

We had a good solid workgroup because everyone was happy with the work because we had plenty of things to do after our general work was done. (P3)

People were friendly, you felt like one of the group, you felt like you are part of the organization, they treated you with respect. (P6)

He left because he thought that he was saving a job for an upcoming young millwright who needed to have a good paying job to support his family. It was just sad to see a group of talented people leave en masse. (P6)

We joked and laughed, you know it was good old time. I thoroughly enjoyed it there; in fact I thought that was the place I was meant to be, to be honest with you. (P13)

In this study, many of the participants spoke of the love for their work group and the trade that they practiced. Each craft possesses different talents and members of a group identified closely with other members of their craft. A significant number (50%) of the participants alluded to their training and experience as defining factors that separated them from other employees.

Theme 3: Mental and Emotional Stressors. Expectancy of outcome can provide a basis to predict an individual's motivation to perform in a certain manner to a given set of circumstances (Liao, Liu, & Pi, 2011; Ning & Jing, 2012). Participants consistently mentioned mental and emotional stressors, such as the lack of information about the future of the organization and frustration over the entire ordeal as key factors to their decisions to leave. In this study, 90% of the participants stated that the lack of knowledge about the organizational direction contributed to their stress. Participants frequently referred to this lack of knowledge as *unknowing*. According to the expectancy

theory, a person's motivation to perform may depend on the perceived value of the expected reward (Vroom, 1964). Without any expected reward to motivate employees to remain with the downsizing organization, many participants (90%) referenced this issue in their interview. Employees who believe their employment to be less than permanent may feel less obligated to the organization as compared to committed long-term employees (Silla, Gracia, Mañas, & Peiró, 2010). Leaders can reduce the likelihood of employees leaving voluntarily by offering them hope for the future with the organization. A sampling of the theme within interviews is as follows:

The other feeling definitely was the uncertainty, the unknowing; you didn't know what was going to happen next you could not plan on anything. (P11)

Didn't think it was going to happen to us. There was a little bit of fear, I would say, fear of the unknown mostly, because nobody had any answers. (P12)

As far as the thought that came to my mind, I was very uncertain about staying there and what the future would hold, and what decisions would be made. (P18)

I didn't want to have to live with the day-to-day idea that this could be the last day of work fact or reality. (P4)

When I decided to leave, I was happy, because the doubt was gone. Granted, my job was not affected by any layoffs, yet but I didn't know the future. (P8)

As demonstrated by the above examples, employees may decide to change employers if they believe there is no future for them with the downsizing organization creating mental and emotional stress.

Theme 4: Communication. The lack of substantive communication was a significant element that played a role in experienced employees quitting their jobs following layoff announcements. During times of organizational change, subordinates view leaders who practice open communication more positively than leaders who are less transparent (Arnold & Staffelbach, 2012; Chong & Wolf, 2010; Norman, Avolio, & Luthans, 2010). In the current study, 80% of the participants referred to communication or the lack of open communication as being a vital factor in their subsequent departure from the downsizing employer.

The culture of an organization can have a substantial effect on management, subordinate interactions. Consistent with the findings of Joo (2012), Employees may demonstrate more commitment to an organization with a culture based on trust and mutual respect than they would demonstrate to an organization whose leaders are less relationship oriented. In this study, participants identified communication as a crucial aspect in gaining employee trust because, during times of organizational change, employees seek answers. The employees look to the leadership group for answers but if management fails to provide answers to the workforce, the rumor mill will provide answers. Organizations with strong cultures, that provide employees with a sense of belonging and that encourage open communication, may be less apt to lose members following layoff procedures. A sampling of the theme within interviews is as follows: Like any other place, there are always rumors floating around. People still did their work, but it was like anything else it obviously affected them. For the most part, I didn't

see too much decline where I worked as far as production or keeping the machines running. I would say the rumors were the big things. (P2)

They drove me into the attitude that it wasn't my concern about how they did things; it wasn't my responsibility because they wouldn't listen to anything any of us said in the first place. (P1)

They never let us know what they were up to. (P1)

Actually, I heard about it on the news. They didn't say a word to us; I was watching the 6:00 news and they reported that the company was going to layoff close to 1,000 people. Through voluntary severances and stuff, but I didn't hear it from a supervisor or anything or at work itself, it was actually on the news. (P5)

I was just sick of hearing what was going to happen next. We had this one guy in our shop that was pretty negative, every day he would bring something up about the mill shutting down. A lot of rumors and a lot of negativity. (P9)

I think it was rumored first that there will possibly be some type of layoffs. (P3)

I think there should be more discussion about ahead of an announcement to let people know what is happening and what to expect, rather than rumors and speculation. When considering layoffs organizational leadership should evaluate their options as far as layoffs versus early retirements with reduced penalties. (P3)

I don't think that there was anything specific that they stated, as far as a formal announcement. (P6)

If people do not know the facts about a topic that has everyone's attention, they may feel compelled to make things up, or draw false conclusions. When the participants

of this study spoke about the layoff process, many of them spoke about the circulation of rumors. In reflection of the participants' accounts, 70% of the participants believed the best way to combat false information or exaggerated tales, is to provide open and honest communication.

Theme 5: Employee Perception of Management. How employees perceived their supervisor and the management group contributed to their level of commitment to the organization. If leaders fail to convey confidence in the organization's direction, other members of the organization may resist the change initiative because employees may reflect and amplify leadership's lack of confidence in the initiative (Joo, 2010). Leaders must communicate to their employees the types of changes to expect and why the changes were necessary (Bull & Brown, 2012; Chen, Lai, & Chen, 2012). In the current study, 15 of the 20 participants (75%) commented about management as a factor that stood out in their minds as a problem, during the layoff process. A sampling of the theme within interviews is as follows:

I don't believe that it was first-line supervision at all. I believe it was above our plant; it was upper-level management that made this bad decision. (P14)

My supervisor seemed to really ride those employees that were performers, but those who were slackers, he tend to turn a blind eye to their ineffective behavior. (P6)

When considering layoffs organizational leadership should evaluate their options as far as layoffs versus early retirements with reduced penalties. (P3)

Management needs to understand that they cannot just tell people not to worry about it, what do they mean do not worry about it. This is my insurance; this is my livelihood, I am worried about it! (P19)

Theme 6: Violation of the Implied Psychological Contract. Employers entice employees to join and remain with their organization through the use of inducements, such as wages and benefits; in return employees provide a high level of performance (Carraher, 2011; Lee, Forster, & Rehner, 2011; Restubog, Bordia, & Bordia, 2011). In addition to these stated inducements, there are other unstated incentives that aid in the establishment of an implied psychological contract between employee and employer (Eckerd, Hill, Boyer, Donohue, & Ward, 2013). Violation of the implied psychological contract between employee and employer was a significant factor that 75% of the participants addressed as a consideration prior to leaving their employer. A sampling of the theme within interviews is as follows:

I believe the attitude and the paper Mills at that time, was job security, you're set for life, it was the attitude that was within the management organization and the unions. Once you are in, you are set for life. (P20)

I was kind of letdown, because it was my first job out of school, and I was kind of proud of it. I was actually pretty proud of the company I worked for; I kind of had blinders on and thought no one would stab you in the back like that. I kind of felt betrayed a little bit. (P5)

Originally, everybody thought that the paper Mills would be there forever, and in hindsight that was probably pretty shortsighted. Nobody thought the paper Mills would be leaving, but if you look back on it was pretty stupid to think that way. (P10) You worked a lot of hours, and you knew where your paycheck was coming from. Life was pretty good, and everything was pretty stable and the wife and I it appeared that I had found a location where I could retire. (P12)

I just wanted to do my job; I've always enjoyed what I do, and I have always had my soft spot. If they are paying me, I have always believed that when I hit the job, I should be doing what I'm getting paid to do. (P17)

It was like a decision that came from somebody else, someplace else who didn't know the people, who didn't know the mill and the services they provided. (P16)

First of all when you get laid off like that, it leaves a very bad taste in your mouth, especially when you give a good effort every day and you realize that in the end you were just a number anyway. (P3)

Some participants of this study viewed the decision of the organizational leadership to lay off members of the organization as a betrayal. Whenever there is a change in the relationship between employer and employee, it creates an entirely new relationship (Chaudhry, Wayne, & Schalk, 2009). Some participant employees believed that if they worked hard they would be able to retire from their jobs. In reflection of the participants' accounts, once the employer broke the implied contract with the employee, 65% of the participants no longer trusted the leadership of the organization.

Theme 7: Trust. A contributing factor to employees choosing to stay or leave is the trust they place in the decisions made within the organization (Kim, 2009; Lavelle et al., 2009; Shah, 2011). The low amount of trust employees had that the organizational leaders and managers were providing open and honest communication about the future direction of the business and its employees was a significant motivator in employees electing to sever employment with downsizing organizations. When employees no longer trust the leaders of the organization, the leaders may find it difficult to make any change without enduring resistance (Spangenburg, 2012). A sampling of the theme within interviews is as follows:

I kind of felt betrayed a little bit. (P5)

All of a sudden this paper market supposedly dried up and then they didn't need us anymore. (P1)

I kind of, I didn't want to believe it to be honest with you. I didn't think things like that would happen to me, or to anyone else. I just thought somewhere in the back my mind that maybe some way shape or form, they were going to do it through attrition, through maybe retirements or buyouts, or something like that I guess, and I didn't want to believe it. It just never really sunk into my head that it was possible. (P13)

I didn't trust them at all after I find out that they're laying people off through the news? That is not how I would want to find out that I'm going to get laid off and will lose my job from a third party. (P5)

You didn't know really who to trust anymore. I guess some of the feelings were at that time, deserted, let down, and I guess betrayed. (P12)

So they were trying to keep me there but not really guaranteeing anything. (P15) I guess there are no guarantees in life. I don't think they could have put something onto paper that stated that you are guarantee that we are going to keep you; I don't know that I have a level of trust of that even. So I don't know. (P12)

No, I can't come back; I'm at a new job, and you may lay me off in six months anyway, I don't trust you anymore! That really frustrates me more than anything; I love working for that company, I love the guys I work with, I love my union I was committed to doing the best thing I could. Did they make me mad? Absolutely! I really believed in that company, I trusted that company, and they lied to me. (P19)

In reflection of the participants' accounts, perceived betrayal of trust contributed to some employees electing to seek other employment although they sincerely enjoyed their jobs. Some employees attributed the layoff process to corporate greed, whereby stockholders and executives of the organization feasted while the employees suffered. Other employees believed that the leadership group was dishonest and self-serving. In this study, 65% of the participants revealed this loss of trust in the integrity of organizational leadership as a contributing factor in their leave decisions.

Theme 8: Training and Education. The amount of training and education held by each participant in this study was an important factor in determining how quickly an employee elected to leave the downsizing organization. For many of the participants leaving the downsizing organization was a difficult decision to make, with 50% of the participants referring to their training and education as factors in their decision making process. Participants, who believed they had a skill set that was in demand by others,

demonstrated less fear of finding alternate employment. A sampling of the theme within interviews is as follows:

I had education; I had two journeyman cards, I had two associate degrees, and I had substantial work experience. I wasn't too worried about it because I knew I had myself set in a pretty good place and always did. (P20)

I never had any issues in finding other work. I thought if I got laid off there I would go back into the pipe trades and go from there. (P2)

I was a journeyman electrician, and as soon as I was able to try to obtain my Masters electrician license, in the state of Wisconsin, I went to some training courses and Pewaukee on my own time. (P11)

You also realize, at the same time that you are so much further ahead with a (journeyman) card in your pocket, compared to a papermaker. (P15)

Some of these individuals are production people with no more than a high school education, and who have worked on a machine for the past 25 years. These people had few marketable skills, for the trades it was different. (P19)

In reflection of the participants' accounts, employees with marketable skills are confident waiting to see how management and organizational leaders handle the layoff process before deciding to leave.

Theme 9: Organizational Process Issues. The one theme revealed in the interviews that previously was not accounted for in the literature, was participant concern for process improvements by the downsizing organization prior to introducing layoffs.

Participants in 25% of the interviews addressed the issue of improving or evaluating the

work processes. In some instances, participants suggested that the process improvement effort added a sense of legitimacy to the layoff process. A sampling of the theme within interviews is as follows:

The one thing that the company did right, is that they did everything possible to fix as much of the process as they could using the experience and knowledge of the people out on the floor before they made their cuts. (P19)

I don't believe that it was first-line supervision at all. I believe it was above our plant; it was upper-level management made this bad decision. Talking to senior management that went to other plants, they said in meetings that they had made the wrong decision. (P14) I think that when it comes down to a company being in trouble, the first thing that they look at is labor, because it is the easiest thing for them to control. It is easy for me to say if I get rid of two people that saves me \$200,000 a year, instead of looking at their process, and saying we can streamline this better or we can save money here we can save money there, it's easier to get rid of key personnel. (P10)

In reflection of the participants' accounts, employees may find value in the management evaluating the processes of the organization prior to announcing layoffs.

Voluntary Attrition Mitigation

Participants provided their perspectives on what management could do, if anything, to retain them, following announcements of layoff intentions. With the exception of guaranteeing no layoffs, organizational leaders could do little to keep participants committed to the organization. A sampling of the theme within interviews is as follows:

For a better deal, I don't think they could have said anything, because I wasn't looking at the local management level, I was looking at the bigger picture. (P20)

They would have had to probably guarantee my job for the next 15 years. (P9)

The only action that I feel would have prevented me from resigning would be if they were to say that there were not going to be any layoffs in our group. (P11)

I don't know if they could change my mind because the organization had changed enough that it wasn't the same place that I was working for when I first started. (P12)

In reflection of the participants' accounts, there is little organizational leaders can do to retain employees once the trust is lost, and the implied psychological contract has been broken. Any hope management has of reducing voluntary attrition following layoff announcements, must come during the implementation stage at the latest. Ninety-five percent of participants who felt betrayed could not trust the organizational leaders again.

Applications to Professional Practice

The previous themes provide organizational leaders with information for developing strategies for strengthening employee retention during times of organizational change, specifically following an announcement of layoff intentions. The influences that were most often mentioned as contributing factors that led to voluntary attrition by participants are (a) job insecurity, (b) communication, (c) violation of the implied psychological contract, (d) trust, (e) employee perception of management, (f) mental and emotional stressors, (g) entitativity, (h) training and education, and (i) organizational process issues.

Comprehension of how to mitigate the negative effects of these issues can reduce voluntary attrition. Findings from this study might add to the existing body of knowledge on past research on organizational change and provide organizational leaders with plausible information to improve employee retention during implementation of layoff initiatives. How employees respond to change plays a major role in the success of the organization (Bordia et al., 2011). The level of resistance to change displayed by employees may be a reliable predictor of their leave intentions.

Organizational leaders, HR professionals, and managers can use the study's findings to develop an organizational culture that is receptive to change. A culture based on the belief of mutual respect between leaders and subordinates may be more receptive to change than a culture that is less employee-focused. Implementing layoff initiatives in organizations with cultures based on trust and transparency could produce lower levels of voluntary employee attrition.

Implications for Social Change

Voluntary attrition subsequent to announcements of layoffs have unexpected consequences on the business environment and the employees who remain with the downsizing organization. Some survivors may be appreciative to have remained employed; others may feel abandoned by those who elected to leave. This research topic may be of value in view of the global economy that demands greater efficiencies in competitive markets. Voluntary attrition affects the knowledge base of the downsizing organization, the surviving employees, their families, and communities.

This research may facilitate the development of protocols regarding the training of supervisors and managers about the layoff process and the potential emotional and psychological challenges that may lead to voluntary employee attrition. Organizational leaders and managers must understand how employees view the layoff process. When changes occur, without prior communication of the upcoming changes, employees may feel disregarded and disrespected. These emotional triggers affect employees regardless of their level of involvement in the change. It is important to remember that pride, lifestyles, and long-time friendships bond the people who work for the organization. When layoffs occur, some individuals may perceive their future with the organization to be questionable at best.

Organizational leaders should not underestimate the importance of developing downsizing strategies that considers the organizational commitment of the workforce as the stress of the layoff process can spread to others in the workplace, as they see friends leaving for other jobs. This stress can affect employees' home life and the lives of their love ones who must endure the added uncertainty of the day-to-day existence (Keyes, Hatzenbuehler, & Hasin, 2011).

Recommendations for Action

There are several factors influencing employee voluntary attrition, following the announcement of layoff intentions. These findings could help organizational leaders execute strategic downsizing initiatives that improve employee retention. Lack of organizational culture building strategies may have a significant impact on organizations. Organizational leaders must understand how to implement successful layoff initiatives. I

recommend organizational leaders use the findings of this study to assist with implementing layoff strategies. Leaders should develop layoff strategies that enhance employee retention.

Developing layoff strategies can have a positive effect on the surviving employees and the organization. Organizational leaders should improve communication and enhance the relationship between employees and management. Improving communication can enhance employee management relationships, build trust among work groups, and demonstrate to employees that management believes they are valuable members of the organization.

Organizational leaders should also focus on creating an environment that helps inform members about the daily decisions made in the organization. Creating a transparent working environment can increase employee trust and decrease resistance to change (Kramer & Lewicki, 2010). Organizational leaders should encourage a culture of mutual respect between all employees, thus facilitating sharing knowledge openly.

Trade and industry journals, academic research journals, organizations, and publications can distribute the findings of this study. The findings of the study can aid managers, HR professionals, and business executives to develop a culture that is receptive to organizational change. Any organizational leader who employs a workforce with specialized skill sets may use this study to reduce employee voluntary attrition, following the announcement of layoff intentions.

Recommendations for Further Study

Little research exists about strategies organizational leaders can use to reduce employee voluntary attrition following announcements of layoff intentions, prior to the final reductions in staff. Recommendations for future studies include addressing some of the limitations of this study, specifically, the small population size and the geographical location. There is a significant need to conduct studies in the United States on a larger scale, on strategies that organizational leaders can use to reduce employee voluntary attrition following announcements of layoff intentions. Performing a study of this scale can provide organizational leaders with the requisite knowledge to reduce employee voluntary attrition. Findings from additional studies of this type might enhance the employee management relationship, increase employee satisfaction, reduce voluntary attrition, and improve employee morale, performance, organizational commitment, and the organization's profits.

By conducting research in the form of a mixed-methods study, future researchers could examine the financial implications of companies failing to retain experienced employees during times of organizational change. A future study exploring whether the recommendations of this study can positively influence the perceptions, organizational commitment, and voluntary attrition of highly experienced workforces in other organizations implementing layoffs could provide further support for developing organizational cultures of employees who have a voice in the future of their companies.

Reflections

The purpose of this research was to explore the lived experiences of 20 experienced journeyman level artisans located within a 50-mile radius of Wausau, Wisconsin and the contributing factors leading to their decisions to voluntarily change employers following the announcement of layoff intentions. The process provided considerable insight on the issue from diverse perspectives. The information gathering process, consisting of open-ended questions, provided opportunities for me and the participants to communicate openly about the layoff phenomenon. The participants were energetic about participating, and appeared to welcome the chance to speak about their lived experiences. The participants offered open and honest responses to the interview questions, and were considerate and accommodating.

During the course of the interviews, I realized the importance of communication in building any form of sustainable organizational culture. Many participants were concerned about job security, unknowing, and trust. Other areas that participants identified for potential improvement were employee management relationships, organizational entitativity, and process improvement. Some participants believed improvements in communication among all members of the organization would improve these areas of concern, and decrease voluntary attrition by employees of downsizing organizations.

Summary and Study Conclusions

Any loss of talent may reduce the expected benefits of layoffs. If leaders of downsizing organizations are to achieve desired results of layoffs, surviving employees'

organizational commitment must remain intact (Maertz, Wiley, LeRouge, & Campion, 2010; Malik & Ahmad, 2011). The purpose of this study was to explore significant contributing factors to voluntary employee attrition following announcements of layoff intentions. In this study, I used the qualitative phenomenological approach with purposeful selection to explore the lived experiences of skilled employees within a 50-mile radius of Wausau, Wisconsin.

From the findings of this study, I concluded trust and a violation of the implied psychological contract contributed significantly to voluntary employee turnover. Good communication and transparency could mitigate other factors leading to voluntary employee attrition. Organizational leaders can use the findings of this study to enhance organizational awareness and develop layoff strategies that improve employee retention following layoff announcements.

References

- Adalsteinsson, G. D., & Haraldsdottir, H. V. (2013). Human resource managers in Iceland, different duties after the economic collapse. *European Journal of Management*, 13(3), 137–146. Retrieved from www.iaml.org
- Ajzen, I. (2012). Martin Fishbein's legacy: The reasoned action approach. *The Annals of the American Academy of Political and Social Science*, 640(1), 11–27. doi:10.1177/0002716211423363
- Ajzen, I., & Fishbein, M. (1977). Attitude-behavior relations: A theoretical analysis and review of empirical research. *Psychological Bulletin*, 84, 888–918.
 doi:10.1037/0033-2909.84.5.888
- Anderson, C. (2010) Presenting and evaluating qualitative research. *American Journal of Pharmaceutical Education*, 74, 141. doi:10.5688/aj7408141
- Anderson, J., & Eppard, J. (1998). Van Kaam's method revisited. *Qualitative Health**Research, 8, 399–403. doi:10.1177/104973239800800310
- Anis, A., Ijaz-Ur-Rehman, A. N., & Safwan, N. (2011). Employee retention relationship to training and development: A compensation perspective. *African Journal of Business Management*, 5, 2679–2685. doi:10.5897/AJBM10.1036
- Appelbaum, S. H., Delage, C., Labib, N., & Gault, G. (1997). The survivor syndrome:

 Aftermath of downsizing. *Career Development International*, 2, 278–286.

 doi:10.1108/13620439710178639
- Arce, D. G., & Li, S. X. (2011). <u>Profits, layoffs, and priorities</u>. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 101, 49-60. doi:10.1007/s10551-010-0707-7

- Arnold, A., & Staffelbach, B. (2012). Perceived post-restructuring job insecurity: The impact of employees' trust in one's employer and perceived employability.

 Zeitschrift für Personalforschung/German Journal of Research in Human

 Resource Management, 26, 307–330. doi:10.1688/1688/1862
 0000_ZfP_2012_04_Arnold
- Arshad, R., & Sparrow, P. (2010). Downsizing and survivor reactions in Malaysia:

 Modeling antecedents and outcomes of psychological contract violation. *The International Journal of Human Resource Management*, 21, 1793–1815.

 doi:10.1080/09585192.2010.505080
- Atilgan, C., & McCullen, P. (2011). Improving supply chain performance through auditing: A change management perspective. Supply Chain Management: An International Journal, 16, 11-19. doi:10.1108/13599541111103467
- Bachmann, R., Gillespie, N., & Kramer, R. M. (2012). Call for papers. *Organization Studies*, *33*, 1421–1423. doi:10.1177/0170840612464740
- Bacon, N., Blyton, P., & Dastmalchian, A. (2010). The impact of organizational change on steelworkers in craft and production occupational groups. *Human Relations*, 63, 1223–1248. doi:10.1177/0018726709356599
- Bansal, P., & Corley, K. (2011). The coming of age for qualitative research: Embracing the diversity of qualitative methods. *Academy of Management Journal*, *54*, 233-237. doi:10.5465/AMJ.2011.60262792
- Baruch, Y., & Hind, P. (1999). Perpetual motion in organizations: Effective management and the impact of the new psychological contracts on "Survivor Syndrome."

- European Journal of Work and Organizational Psychology, 8, 295–306. doi:10.1080/135943299398375
- Batt, R., & Colvin, A. J. (2011). An employment systems approach to turnover: Human resources practices, quits, dismissals, and performance. *Academy of Management Journal*, *54*, 695–717. doi:10.5465/AMJ.2011.64869448
- Battilana, J., Gilmartin, M., Sengul, M., Pache, A. C., & Alexander, J. A. (2010).

 Leadership competencies for implementing planned organizational change. *The Leadership Quarterly*, 21, 422-438. doi:10.1016/jleagua.2010.03.007
- Battistelli, A., Montani, F., Odoardi, C., Vandenberghe, C., & Picci, P. (2014).

 Employees' concerns about change and commitment to change among Italian organizations: The moderating role of innovative work behavior. *The*International Journal of Human Resource Management, 25, 951-978.

 doi:10.1080/09585192.2013.809012
- Bayardo, J. M., Reche, F. M., & Cabada, M. L. D. L. (2013). Communication as a factor in the success of downsizing. *European Scientific Journal*, *9*(29), 7-25. Retrieved from http://eujournal.org/index.php/esj/article/view/1912
- Becker, T. E., Ullrich, J., & van Dick, R. (2013). Within-person variation in affective commitment to teams: Where it comes from and why it matters. *Human Resource Management Review*, 23, 131–147. doi:10.1016/j.hrmr.2012.07.006
- Bell, M. P., Berry, D. P., Marquardt, D. J., & Green, T. G. (2013). Introducing discriminatory job loss: Antecedents, consequences, and complexities. *Journal of Managerial Psychology*, 28, 584–605. doi:10.1108/JMP-10-2012-0319

- Berchick, E. R., Gallo, W. T., Maralani, V., & Kasl, S. V. (2012). Inequality and the association between involuntary job loss and depressive symptoms. *Social Science & Medicine*, 75, 1891–1894. doi:10.1016/j.socscimed.2012.07.024
- Bernard, H. R. (2013). Social research methods: Qualitative and quantitative approaches (2nd ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Bluhm, D. J., Harman, W., Lee, T. W., & Mitchell, T. R. (2011). Qualitative research in management: A decade of progress. *Journal of Management Studies*, 48, 665-695. doi:10.1111/j.1467-6486.2010.00972.x
- Bordia, P., Restubog, S. L. D., <u>Jimmieson</u>, N. L., & Irmer, B. E. (2011). Haunted by the past: Effects of poor change management history on employee attitudes and turnover. *Group & Organization Management*, *36*, 191–222. doi:10.1177/1059601110392990
- Brockner, J., Spreitzer, G., Mishra, A., Hochwarter, W., Pepper, L., & Weinberg, J. (2004). Perceived control as an antidote to the negative effects of layoffs on survivors' organizational commitment and job performance. *Administrative Science Quarterly*, 49, 76–100. doi:10.2307/4131456
- Bull, M., & Brown, T. (2012). Change communication: The impact on satisfaction with alternative workplace strategies. *Facilities*, *30*, 135–151. doi:10.1108/02632771211202842
- Burnes, B., & Jackson, P. (2011). Success and failure in organizational change: An exploration of the role of values. *Journal of Change Management*, 11, 133–162. doi:10.1080/14697017.2010.524655

- Campbell, D. T. (1958). Common fate, similarity, and other indices of the status of aggregates of persons as social entities. *Behavioral Science*, *3*, 14–25. doi:10.1002/bs.3830030103
- Cannon, W. B. (1932). The wisdom of the body (2nd ed.). New York, NY: Norton.
- Carraher, S. M. (2011). Turnover prediction using attitudes towards benefits, pay, and pay satisfaction among employees and entrepreneurs in Estonia, Latvia, and Lithuania. *Baltic Journal of Management*, *6*, 25–52. doi:10.1108/17465261111100905
- Cascio, W.F. (2010). Employment downsizing: Causes, costs, and consequences. In L. Stadtler, A. Schnitt, P. Klarner & T. Straub (Eds.), *More than bricks in the wall:*Organizational Perspectives for Sustainable Success (pp. 87–96). Berlin,

 Germany: Springer.
- Chaudhry, A., Coyle-Shapiro, J. A. M., & Wayne, S. J. (2011). A longitudinal study of the impact of organizational change on transactional, relational, and balanced psychological contracts. *Journal of Leadership & Organizational Studies*, 18, 247–259. doi:10.1177/1548051810385942
- Chaudhry, A., Wayne, S. J., & Schalk, R. (2009). A sensemaking model of employee evaluation of psychological contract fulfillment: When and how do employees respond to change? *The Journal of Applied Behavioral Science*, 45, 498–520. doi:10.1177/0021886309341739
- Cheese, P. (2010). Talent management for a new era: What we have learned from the recession and what we need to focus on next? *Human Resource Management*

- International Digest, 18(3), 3–5. doi:10.1108/09670731011040281
- Chen, C. X., Lu, H., & Sougiannis, T. (2012). The agency problem, corporate governance, and the asymmetrical behavior of selling, general, and administrative costs. *Contemporary Accounting Research*, 29, 252–282. doi:10.1111/j.1911-3846.2011.01094.x
- Chen, H. J., Kacperczyk, M., & Ortiz-Molina, H. (2011). Labor unions, operating flexibility, and the cost of equity. *Journal of Financial & Quantitative Analysis*, 46, 25–58. doi:10.1017/S0022109010000645
- Chen, I. J., Lai, J. H., & Chen, C. C. (2012). Industrial concentration, innovation and corporate layoff announcements. *International Research Journal of Finance and Economics*, 87, 147-165. Retrieved from http://www.internationalresearchjournaloffinanceandeconomics.com/
- Chenail, R. J. (2011). Interviewing the investigator: Strategies for addressing instrumentation and researcher bias concerns in qualitative research. *The Qualitative Report*, 16, 255–262. Retrieved from http://www.nova.edu/ssss/QR/index.html
- Chipunza, C., & Berry, D. M. (2010). The relationship among survivor qualities—attitude, commitment and motivation—after downsizing. *African Journal of Business Management*, *4*, 604–613. Retrieved from http://www.academicjournals.org/AJBM
- Chirumbolo, A., & Areni, A. (2010). Job insecurity influence on job performance and mental health: Testing the moderating effect of the need for closure. *Economic*

- and Industrial Democracy, 31, 195–214. doi:10.1177/0143831X09358368
- Chong, E., & Wolf, H. (2010). Factors influencing followers' perception of organisational leaders. *Leadership & Organizational Development Journal*, 31, 402-419. doi:10.1108/0143771011056434
- Coelho, F., Augusto, M., & Lages, L. F. (2011). Contextual factors and the creativity of frontline employees: The mediating effects of role stress and intrinsic motivation. *Journal of Retailing*, 87, 31–45. doi:10.1016/j.jretai.2010.11.004
- Collie, R. J., Shapka, J. D., & Perry, N. E. (2012). School climate and social–emotional learning: Predicting teacher stress, job satisfaction, and teaching efficacy. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, *104*, 1189–1204. doi:10.1037/a0029356
- Collins, M. D. (2010). The effect of psychological contract fulfillment on manager turnover intentions and its role as a mediator in a casual, limited-service restaurant environment. *International Journal of Hospitality Management*, 29, 736–742. doi:10.1016/j.ijhm.2010.03.005
- Colquitt, J. A., Scott, B. A., Rodell, J. B., Long, D. M., Zapata, C. P., Conlon, D. E., & Wesson, M. J. (2013). Justice at the millennium, a decade later: A meta-analytic test of social exchange and affect-based perspectives. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 98, 199–236. doi:10.1037/a0031757
- Connelly, L. M. (2010). What is phenomenology? *Medsurg Nursing*, 19, 127–128.

 Retrieved from http://www.medsurgnursing.net/cgi-bin/WebObjects/MSNJournal.woa
- Conway, N., & Coyle-Shapiro, J. A.-M. (2012). The reciprocal relationship between

- psychological contract fulfillment and employee performance and the moderating role of perceived organizational support and tenure. *Journal of Occupational & Organizational Psychology*, 85, 277–299. doi:10.1111/j.2044-8325.2011.02033.x
- Cotter, E. W., & Fouad, N. A. (2012). Examining burnout and engagement in layoff survivors: The role of personal strengths. *Journal of Career Development*, 40, 424–444. doi:10.1177/0894845312466957
- Crump, S. A., Hamilton, D. L., Sherman, S. J., Lickel, B., & Thakkar, V. (2010). Group entitativity and similarity: Their differing patterns in perceptions of groups.

 European Journal of Social Psychology, 40, 1212–1230. doi:10.1002/ejsp.716
- Datta, D. K., Guthrie, J. P., Basuil, D., & Pandey, A. (2010). Causes and effects of employee downsizing: A review and synthesis. *Journal of Management*, *36*, 281–348. doi:10.1177/0149206309346735
- Day, K. M., Armenakis, A. A., Feild, H. S., & Norris, D. R. (2012). Other organizations are doing it, why shouldn't we? A look at downsizing and organizational identity through an institutional theory lens. *Journal of Change Management*, 12, 165–188. doi:10.1080/14697017.2012.662992
- Deb, P., Gallo, W. T., Ayyagari, P., Fletcher, J. M., & Sindelar, J. L. (2011). The effect of job loss on overweight and drinking. *Journal of Health Economics*, *30*, 317–327. doi:10.1016/j.jhealeco.2010.12.009
- Derue, D. S., Nahrgang, J. D., Wellman, N., & Humphry, S. E. (2011). Trait and behavioral theories of leadership: An integration and meta-analytic test of their relative validity. *Personnel Psychology*, 64, 7-52. doi:10.1111/j.1744-

- 6570.2010.01201.x
- Dumay, J., & Cuganesan, S. (2011). Making sense of intellectual capital complexity:

 Measuring through narrative. *Journal of Human Resource Costing & Accounting*,

 15, 24–49. doi:10.1108/14013381111125305
- Dwyer, D. J., & Arbelo, M. (2012). The role of social cognition in downsizing decisions.

 Journal of Managerial Psychology, 27, 383–405.

 doi:10.1108/02683941211220199
- Eckerd, S., Hill, J., Boyer, K. K., Donohue, K., & Ward, P. T. (2013). The relative impact of attribute, severity, and timing of psychological contract breach on behavioral and attitudinal outcomes. *Journal of Operations Management*, *31*, 567–578. doi:10.1016/j.jom.2013.06.003
- Elsby, M. W., Hobijn, B., & Sahin, A. (2010). *The labor market in the great recession* (Working Paper No. 15979). Retrieved from http://www.nber.org/papers/w15979
- Englander, M. (2012). The interview: Data collection in descriptive phenomenological human scientific research. *Journal of Phenomenological Psychology*, 43, 13-35. doi:10.1163/156916212X632943
- Faller, K. C., Grabarek, M., & Ortega, R. M. (2010). Commitment to child welfare work:

 What predicts leaving and staying? *Children and Youth Services Review*, *32*, 840–846. doi:10.1016/j.childyouth.2010.02.003
- Farndale, E., Van Ruiten, J., Kelliher, C., & Hope-Hailey, V. (2011). The influence of perceived employee voice on organizational commitment: An exchange perspective. *Human Resource Management*, 50, 113–129. doi:10.1002/hrm.20404

- Federici, R. A. (2013). Principals' self-efficacy: Relations with job autonomy, job satisfaction, and contextual constraints. *European Journal of Psychology of Education*, 28, 73–86. doi:10.1007/s10212-011-0102-5
- Federici, R. A., & Skaalvik, E. M. (2012). Principal self-efficacy: Relations with burnout, job satisfaction, and motivation to quit. *Social Psychology of Education*, *15*, 295–320. doi:10.1007/s11218-012-9183-5
- Flint, D., Maher, E., & Wielemaker, M. (2012). Downsizing decisions, intellectual capital, and accounting information. *Journal of Human Resource Costing & Accounting*, *16*, 168–183. doi:10.1108/14013381211286351
- Francis, J. J., Johnston, M., Robertson, C., Glidewell, L., Entwistle, V., Eccles, M. P., & Grimshaw, J. M. (2010). What is an adequate sample size? Operationalising data saturation for theory-based interview studies. *Psychology & Health*, 25, 1229–1245. doi:10.1080/08870440903194015
- Froman, L. (2010). Positive psychology in the workplace. *Journal of Adult Development*, 17, 59–69. doi:10.1007/s10804-009-9080-0
- Fugate, M., Prussia, G. E., & Kinicki, A. J. (2012). Managing employee withdrawal during organizational change the role of threat appraisal. *Journal of Management*, 38, 890–914. doi:10.1177/0149206309352881
- Gandolfi, F. (2005). How do organizations implement downsizing?—An Australian and New Zealand study. *Contemporary Management Research*, 1, 57-68. Retrieved from http://www.cmr-journal.org/
- Gandolfi, F. (2013). Workforce downsizing: Strategies, archetypes, approaches and

- tactics. *Journal of Management Research*, *13*, 67–76. Retrieved from http://jmr.indianjournals.com
- Gandolfi, F., & Hansson, M. (2011). Causes and consequences of downsizing: Towards an integrative framework. *Journal of Management and Organization*, 17, 498–521. doi:10.5172/jmo.2011.17.4.498
- Gandolfi, F., & Hansson, M. (2010). Reduction-in-force (RIF) new developments and a brief historical analysis of a business strategy. *Journal of Management and Organization*, 16, 727-743. doi:10.5172/jmo.2010.16.5.727
- Gandolfi, F., & Littler, C.R. (2012). Downsizing is dead; long live the downsizing phenomenon: Conceptualizing the phases of cost-cutting. *Journal of Management and Organization*, 18, 334-345. doi:10.5172/jmo.2012.18.3.334
- Gandolfi, F., & Oster, G. (2010). How does downsizing impact the innovative capability of a firm? A contemporary discussion with conceptual frameworks. *International Journal of Innovation and Learning*, 8, 127–148. doi:10.1504/IJIL.2010.034346
- Gardner, T. M., Wright, P. M., & Moynihan, L. M. (2011). The impact of motivation, empowerment, and skill-enhancing practices on aggregate voluntary turnover:

 The mediating effect of collective affective commitment. *Personnel Psychology*, 64, 315–350. doi:10.1111/j.1744-6570.2011.01212.x
- Gold, G. J. (2011). Review of predicting and changing behavior: The reasoned action approach. *The Journal of Social Psychology*, *151*, 382–385. doi:10.1080/00224545.2011.563209
- Goldstein, A. (2012). Revenge of the managers labor cost-cutting and the paradoxical

- resurgence of managerialism in the shareholder value era, 1984 to 2001.

 American Sociological Review, 77, 268–294. doi:10.1177/0003122412440093
- Grdinovac, J. A., & Yancey, G. B. (2012). How organizational adaptations to recession relate to organizational commitment. *The Psychologist-Manager Journal*, *15*, 6–24. doi:10.1080/10887156.2012.649089
- Greenhalgh, L. (1983). Managing the job insecurity crisis. *Human Resource Management*, 22, 431-444. doi:10.1002/hrm.3930220409
- Greenhalgh, L., & Rosenblatt, Z. (2010). Evolution of research on job insecurity.

 International Studies of Management & Organization, 40(1), 6–19.

 doi:10.2753/IMO0020-8825400101
- Greenwood, K., & Reinardy, S. (2011). Self-trained and self-motivated: Newspaper photojournalists strive for quality during technological challenges. *Visual Communication Quarterly*, 18, 155–166. doi:10.1080/15551393.2011.599285
- Guba, E. G. (1981). Criteria for assessing the trustworthiness of naturalistic inquiries.

 *Educational Technology Research & Development, 29, 75–91.

 doi:10.1007/BF02766777
- Guchait, P., & Cho, S. (2010). The impact of human resource management practices on intention to leave of employees in the service industry in India: The mediating role of organizational commitment. *The International Journal of Human Resource Management*, 21, 1228–1247. doi:10.1080/09585192.2010.483845
- Guo, C., & Giacobbe-Miller, J. K. (2012). Understanding survivors' reactions to downsizing in China. *Journal of Managerial Psychology*, 27, 27–47.

- doi:10.1108/02683941211193848
- Guthrie, J., Ricceri, F., & Dumay, J. (2012). Reflections and projections: A decade of intellectual capital accounting research. *The British Accounting Review*, 44, 68–82. doi:10.1016/j.bar.2012.03.004
- Hall, P. M. (2012). Survivors' perspectives of organizational downsizing on knowledge sharing in a downsized environment. *Open Journal of Leadership*, *1*, 17–21. doi:10.4236/oj1.2012.14004
- Hallock, K., Strain, M., & Webber, D. (2011). Job loss and effects on firms and workers.

 Institute for Compensation Studies. Retrieved from Cornell University, Ithaca,

 NY http://digitalcommons.ilr.cornell.edu/ics/8
- Hausknecht, J. P., Sturman, M. C., & Roberson, Q. M. (2011). Justice as a dynamic construct: Effects of individual trajectories on distal work outcomes. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 96, 872–880. doi:10.1037/a0022991
- Hausknecht, J. P., & Trevor, C. O. (2011). Collective turnover at the group, unit, and organizational levels: Evidence, issues, and implications. *Journal of Management*, 37, 352-388. doi:10.1177/0149206310383910
- Hayibor, S. (2012). Equity and expectancy considerations in stakeholder action. *Business & Society*, *51*, 220–262. doi:10.1177/0007650308323396
- Heneman, H. G., & Schwab, D. P. (1972). Evaluation of research on expectancy theory predictions of employee performance. *Psychological Bulletin*, 78, 1–9. doi:10.1037/h0033093
- Hildesheim, A., & Winkelmann, S. (2010). Success factors for implementing employee

- downsizing measures in the areas of distribution and service. Paper presented at the Australian & New Zealand Marketing Academy Conference (ANZMAC), Sydney, Australia. Retrieved from http://anzmac.info/
- Homburg, C., Klarmann, M., & Staritz, S. (2012). Customer uncertainty following downsizing: The effects of extent of downsizing and open communication. *Journal of Marketing*, 76(3), 112–130. doi:10.1509/jm.09.0486
- Houseman, S., Kurz, C., Lengermann, P., & Mandel, B. (2011). Offshoring bias in U.S. manufacturing. *The Journal of Economic Perspectives*, 25(2), 111–132. doi:10.1257/jep.25.2.111
- Hutchison, A., Johnston, L., & Breckon, J. (2010). Using QSR-NVivo to facilitate the development of grounded theory project: An account of worked example.
 International Journal of Social Research Methodology, 13, 283-302.
 doi:10.1080/13645570902996301
- Ip, G. W., Chiu, C., & Wan, C. (2006). Birds of a feather and birds flocking together: Physical versus behavioral cues may lead to trait-versus goal-based group perception. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 90, 368–381. doi:10.1037/0022-3514.90.3.368
- Ipe, M. (2003). Knowledge sharing in organizations: A conceptual framework. *Human Resource Development Review*, 2, 337-359. doi:10.1177/1534484303257985
- Iqbal, Z., & Shetty, S. (2011). Layoffs, stock price, and financial condition of the firm.

 Journal of Applied Business Research, 11, 67–72. Retrieved from http://journals.cluteonline.com/index.php/JABR

- Isenhour, L. C., Stone, D. L., & Lien, D. (2012). Advancing theory and research on employee behavior in China. *Journal of Managerial Psychology*, 27, 4–8. doi:10.1108/02683941211206762
- Iskander, N., & Lowe, N. (2010). Hidden talent: Tacit skill formation and labor market incorporation of Latino immigrants in the United States. *Journal of Planning Education and Research*, 30, 132–146. doi:10.1177/0739456X10380922
- Iverson, R. D., & Zatzick, C. D. (2011). The effects of downsizing on labor productivity:

 The value of showing consideration for employees' morale and welfare in

 high□performance work systems. *Human Resource Management*, 50, 29-44.

 doi:10.1002/hrm.20407
- James, P. T. (2012). Clinical doctors as qualitative researchers: QDAS factors informing hospital research policy. *Internet Journal of Medical Informatics*, 6(2). doi:10.55 80/2b29
- Jaros, S. (2010). Commitment to organizational change: A critical review. *Journal of Change Management*, 10, 79–108. doi:10.1080/14697010903549457
- Joo, B. (2010). Organizational commitment for knowledge workers: The roles of perceived organizational learning culture, leader—member exchange quality, and turnover intention. *Human Resource Development Quarterly*, 21, 69–85.

 doi:10.1002/hrdq.20031
- Joo, B. (2012). Leader–member exchange quality and in-role job performance the moderating role of learning organization culture. *Journal of Leadership & Organizational Studies*, 19, 25–34. doi:10.1177/1548051811422233

- Joo, B., & Shim, J. H. (2010). Psychological empowerment and organizational commitment: The moderating effect of organizational learning culture. *Human Resource Development International*, *13*, 425–441.

 doi:10.1080/13678868.2010.501963
- Judge, T. A., & Kammeyer-Mueller, J. D. (2011). Implications of core self-evaluations for a changing organizational context. *Human Resource Management Review*, *21*, 331–341. doi:10.1016/j.hrmr.2010.10.003
- Kahn, L. M. (2012). Labor market policy: A comparative view on the costs and benefits of labor market flexibility. *Journal of Policy Analysis & Management*, 31, 94–110. doi:10.1002/pam.20602
- Kalleberg, A. L. (2012). A company of one: Insecurity, independence, and the new world of white-collar unemployment. *Contemporary Sociology*, *41*, 346–348. doi:10.1177/0094306112443520v
- Kalyal, H. J., Berntson, E., Baraldi, S., Näswall, K., & Sverke, M. (2010). The moderating role of employability on the relationship between job insecurity and commitment to change. *Economic and Industrial Democracy*, 31, 327–344. doi:10.1177/0143831X09351214
- Kawai, N. (2011). Does downsizing really matter? Evidence from Japanese multinationals in the European manufacturing industry. *The International Journal of Human Resource Management*, 1–19. doi:10.1080/09585192.2011.616525
- Keyes, K. M., Hatzenbuehler, M. L., & Hasin, D. S. (2011). Stressful life experiences, alcohol consumption, and alcohol use disorders: The epidemiologic evidence for

- four main types of stressors. *Psychopharmacology*, 218(1), 1–17. doi:10.1007/s00213-011-2236-1
- Kim, H.S. (2009). Examining the role of informational justice in the wake of downsizing from an organizational relationship management perspective. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 88, 297–312. doi:10.1007/s10551-008-9964-0
- Kim, M. S., & Choi, J. N. (2010). Layoff victim's employment relationship with a new employer in Korea: Effects of unmet tenure expectations on trust and psychological contract. *The International Journal of Human Resource*Management, 21, 781–798. doi:10.1080/09585191003658938
- Kimball, W. (2012). Short-time compensation: Factors leading to its adoption and its success in Connecticut (Honors Scholar Theses). Retrieved from http://digitalcommons.uconn.edu/srhonors_theses/265
- Klehe, U.-C., Zikic, J., Van Vianen, A. E. M., & De Pater, I. E. (2011). Career adaptability, turnover and loyalty during organizational downsizing. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, 79, 217–229. doi:10.1016/j.jvb.2011.01.004
- Kong, E., Chadee, D., & Raman, R. (2013). Managing Indian IT professionals for global competitiveness: The role of human resource practices in developing knowledge and learning capabilities for innovation. *Knowledge Management Research & Practice*, 11, 334–345. doi:10.1057/kmrp.2012.21
- Kraimer, M. L., Seibert, S. E., Wayne, S. J., Liden, R. C., & Bravo, J. (2011).

 Antecedents and outcomes of organizational support for development: The critical role of career opportunities. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 96, 485–500.

- Kramer, R. M., & Lewicki, R. J. (2010). Repairing and enhancing trust: Approaches to reducing organizational trust deficits. *The Academy of Management Annals*, 4(1), 245–277. doi:10.1080/19416520.2010.487403
- Kurebwa, J. (2011). Organisational downsizing and its impact on leavers and survivors:

 The case of the reserve bank of Zimbabwe. *Journal of Emerging Trends in Economics and Management Sciences (JETEMS)*, 2, 264–269. Retrieved from http://jetems.scholarlinkresearch.org/
- Kwon, K., Chung, K., Roh, H., Chadwick, C., & Lawler, J. J. (2012). The moderating effects of organizational context on the relationship between voluntary turnover and organizational performance: Evidence from Korea. *Human Resource Management*, *51*, 47–70. doi:10.1002/hrm.20433
- Lasch, K. E., Marquis, P., Vigneux, M., Abetz, L., Arnould, B., Bayliss, M., Crawford, B., Rosa, K. (2010). PRO development: Rigorous qualitative research as the crucial foundation. *Quality of Life Research*, *19*, 1087–1096. doi:10.1007/s11136-010-9677-6
- Lavelle, J. J., Brockner, J., Konovsky, M. A., Price, K. H., Henley, A. B., Taneja, A., & Vinekar, V. (2009). Commitment, procedural fairness, and organizational citizenship behavior: A multifoci analysis. *Journal of Organizational Behavior*, 30, 337–357. doi:10.1002/job.518
- Lazarus, R. S. (1966). *Psychological stress and the coping process*. New York, NY: McGraw-Hill.

- Lazarus, R. S. (1991). Progress on a cognitive-motivational-relational theory of emotion. *American Psychologist*, 46, 819-834. doi:10.1037/0003-066X.46.8.819
- Lazarus, R. S. (1999). Stress and emotion: A new synthesis. New York, NY: Springer.
- Lee, J., Forster, M., & Rehner, T. (2011). The retention of public child welfare workers:

 The roles of professional organizational culture and coping strategies. *Children*and Youth Services Review, 33, 102–109. doi:10.1016/j.childyouth.2010.08.019
- Lee, J., & Taylor, M. S. (2014). Dual roles in psychological contracts: When managers take both agent and principal roles. *Human Resource Management Review*, 24, 95–107. doi:10.1016/j.hrmr.2013.03.001
- Leech, N. L., & Onwuegbuzie, A. J. (2009). A typology of mixed methods research designs. Quality and Quantity, 43, 265–275. doi:10.1007/s11135-007-9105-3
- Leedy, P. D., & Ormrod, J. E. (2005). *Practical research planning and design* (8th ed).

 Saddle River, NJ: Pearson Merrill Prentice Hall.
- Liao, H.-L., Liu, S.-H., & Pi, S.-M. (2011). Modeling motivations for blogging: An expectancy theory analysis. *Social Behavior and Personality*, *39*, 251–264. doi: 10.2224/sbp.2011.39.2.251
- Linnenluecke, M. K., & Griffiths, A. (2010). Corporate sustainability and organizational culture. *Journal of World Business*, 45, 357–366. doi:10.1016/j.jwb.2009.08.006
- Losonci, D., Demeter, K., & Jenei, I. (2010). Factors influencing employee perceptions in lean transformation. *International Journal of Production Economics*, 131, 30-43. doi:10.1016/j.ijpe.2010.12.022
- <u>Luchak</u>, A. A., & Pohler, D. M. (2010). Pensions as psychological contracts: Implications

- for work outcomes. *Industrial Relations: A Journal of Economy and Society*, 49, 61–82. doi:10.1111/j.1468-232X.2009.00587.x
- Maertz, C. P., & Griffeth, R. W. (2004). Eight motivational forces and voluntary turnover: A theoretical synthesis with implications for research. *Journal of Management*, 30, 667–683. doi:10.1016/j.jm.2004.04.001
- Maertz, C. P., Wiley, J. W., LeRouge, C., & Campion, M. A. (2010). Downsizing effects on survivors: Layoffs, offshoring, and outsourcing. *Industrial Relations: A Journal of Economy and Society*, 49, 275–285. doi:10.1111/j.1468-232X.2009.00599.x
- Makawatsakul, N., & Kleiner, B. H. (2003). The effect of downsizing on morale and attrition. *Management Research News*, 26, 52–62. doi:10.1108/01409170310783998
- Mäkelä, H., & Näsi, S. (2010). Social responsibilities of MNCs in downsizing operations:
 A Finnish forest sector case analysed from the stakeholder, social contract and legitimacy theory point of view. *Accounting, Auditing & Accountability Journal*,
 23, 149–174. doi:10.1108/09513571011023174
- Malik, M. I., Ahmad, A., & Hussain, S. (2010). How downsizing affects the job satisfaction and life satisfaction of layoff survivors. *African Journal of Business Management*, *4*, 3564–3570. Retrieved from http://www.academicjournals.org/AJBM/
- Malik, M. I., & Ahmad, D. M. (2011). Lucky or unlucky people: Layoff survivors. *Far East Journal of Psychology and Business*, 2(2), 23–35. Retrieved from

- http://fareastjournals.com/journal_detail.aspx?jid=18
- Malik, M. I., Ahmad, M., Saif, M. I., & Safwan, M. N. (2010). Relationship of organizational commitment, job satisfaction and layoff survivor's productivity. *Interdisciplinary Journal of Contemporary Research in Business*, 2(7), 200–211. Retrieved from http://www.ijcrb.webs.com/
- Malik, M. I., Hussain, S., & Mahmood, A. (2011). Examining a chain relationship of layoff survivors' role overload, work-life balance and their productivity.

 Interdisciplinary Journal of Contemporary Research in Business, 3(6), 402–409.

 Retrieved from http://www.ijcrb.webs.com/
- Malik, M. I., Saleem, F., & Ahmad, M. (2010). Work-life balance and job satisfaction among doctors in Pakistan. *South Asian Journal of Management*, *17*(2), 112–123. Retrieved from http://www.questia.com/library/p62372/south-asian-journal-of-management
- Mandal, B., Ayyagari, P., & Gallo, W. T. (2011). Job loss and depression: The role of subjective expectations. *Social Science & Medicine*, 72, 576–583. doi:10.1016/j.socscimed.2010.11.014
- March, J. G., & Simon, H. A. (1958). Organizations. New York, NY: Wiley.
- Marques, T., Suárez-González, I., Cruz, P. P., & Ferreira, M. P. (2011). The downsizing effects on survivors: A structural equation modeling analysis. *Management Research: The Journal of the Iberoamerican Academy of Management*, 9, 174–191. doi:10.1108/1536-541111181895
- Megilo, O., & Risberg, A. (2010). Mergers and acquisitions: Time for a methodological

- rejuvenation of the field? *Scandinavian Journal of Management*, 26, 87-95. doi:10.1016/j.scaman.2009.11.002
- Mellahi, K., & Wilkinson, A. (2010). Slash and burn or nip and tuck? <u>Downsizing</u>, innovation and human resources. *International Journal of Human Resource*Management, 21, 2291–2305. doi:10.1080/09585192.2010.516584
- Mero-Jaffe, I. (2011). "Is that what I said?" Interview transcript approval by participants:

 An aspect of ethics in qualitative research. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 10, 231–247. Retrieved from

 http://ejournals.library.ualberta.ca/index.php/IJQM/index
- Meurs, J. A., & Perrewé, P. L. (2011). Cognitive activation theory of stress: An integrative theoretical approach to work stress. *Journal of Management*, 37, 1043–1068. doi:10.1177/0149206310387303
- Michael, B., & Michael, R. (2012). Outsourcing: Mass layoffs and displaced workers' experiences. *Management Research Review*, *35*, 1029–1045. doi:10.1108/01409171211276927
- Michaelis, B., Stegmaier, R., & Sonntag, K. (2010). Shedding light on followers' innovation implementation behavior: The role of transformational leadership, commitment to change, and climate for initiative. *Journal of Managerial Psychology*, 25, 408–429. doi:10.1108/02683941011035304
- Mishra, S., & Gupta, A. (2010). Kaizen culture: Enabling organizational change management for sustainable competitive advantage. *Global Journal of Enterprise Information Systems*, 2(2), 59-68. Retrieved from http://gjeis.org/

- Mitchell, T., Schaap, J. I., & Groves, M. (2010). Maintaining the integrity of turnover measurements when there are layoffs. *Journal of Business & Economics**Research, 8(1), 79-86. Retrieved from http://journals.cluteonline.com/index.php/JBER
- Modrek, S., & Cullen, M. R. (2013). Health consequences of the 'Great Recession' on the employed: Evidence from an industrial cohort in aluminum manufacturing.

 Social Science & Medicine, 92, 105-113. doi:10.1016/j.socscimed.2013.04.027
- Morse, J. M. (2000). Determining sample size. *Qualitative Health Research*, 10, 3–5. doi:10.1177/104973200129118183
- Moustakas, C. (1994). Phenomenological research methods. London, UK: Sage.
- Munjuri, M. G. (2011). A survey of the criteria used by commercial banks in Kenya to determine employees to retrench. *International Journal of Business*Administration, 2(2), 57-81. doi:10.5430/ijba.v2n2p57
- Muñoz-Bullón, F., & Sánchez-Bueno, M. J. (2011). Does downsizing improve organisational performance? An analysis of Spanish manufacturing firms. The International Journal of Human Resource Management, 22, 2924–2945. doi:10.1080/09585192.2011.599955
- Neininger, A., Lehmann-Willenbrock, N., Kauffeld, S., & Henschel, A. (2010). Effects of team and organizational commitment A longitudinal study. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, 76, 567–579. doi:10.1016/j.jvb.2010.01.009
- Ng, T. W. H., Feldman, D. C., & Lam, S. S. K. (2010). Psychological contract breaches, organizational commitment, and innovation-related behaviors: A latent growth

- modeling approach. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, *95*, 744–751. doi:10.1037/a0018804
- Ngirande, H. (2012). The psychological impact of downsizing on employee survivors in the manufacturing industry. *African Journal of Business Management*, 6, 4371-4375. doi:10.5897/AJBM11.987
- Ning, J., & Jing, R. (2012). Commitment to change: Its role in the relationship between expectation of change outcome and emotional exhaustion. *Human Resource Development Quarterly*, 23, 461–485. doi:10.1002/hrdq.21149
- Noer, D. (2010). Six crucial leadership competencies for an era of downsizing. *Leader to Leader*, 2010(56), 8–11. doi:10.1002/ltl.407
- Norman, P. M., Butler, F. C., & Ranft, A. L. (2013). Resources matter: Examining the effects of resources on the state of firms following downsizing. *Journal of Management*, 39, 2009-2038. doi:10.1177/0149206312443560
- Norman, S. M., Avolio, B. J., & Luthans, F. (2010). The impact of positivity and transparency on trust in leaders and their perceived effectiveness. *The Leadership Quarterly*, 21, 350–364. doi:10.1016/j.leaqua.2010.03.002
- Nuttman-Shwartz, O., & Gadot, L. (2012). Social factors and mental health symptoms among women who have experienced involuntary job loss. *Anxiety, Stress & Coping*, 25, 275–290. doi:10.1080/10615806.2011.583644
- Obilade, S. (2009). Motivating downsizing survivors in small businesses. *Southern Business Review*, *34*, 19–35. Retrieved from http://www.questia.com/library/p61306/southern-business-review

- Oh, Y. O., & Park, J. J. (2011). New link between administrative reforms and job attitude: The role of interpersonal trust in peers as a mediator on organizational commitment. *International Review of Public Administration*, *16*(3), 65–88.

 Retrieved from http://www.kapa21.or.kr/english/irpafind.php
- Olckers, C., & du Plessis, Y. (2012). The role of psychological ownership in retaining talent: A systematic literature review. *South African Journal of Human Resource Management*, 10, 1–18. doi:10.4102/sajhrm.v10i2.415
- Oreg, S., & Sverdlik, N. (2011). Ambivalence toward imposed change: The conflict between dispositional resistance to change and the orientation toward the change agent. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, *96*, 337-349. doi:10.1037/a.0021100
- Oreg, S., Vakola, M., & Armenakis, A. (2011). Change recipients' reactions to organizational change: A 60-year review of quantitative studies. *The Journal of Applied Behavioral Science*, 47, 461-524. doi:10.1177/0021886310396550
- O'Reilly, M., & Parker, N. (2013). "Unsatisfactory saturation": A critical exploration of the notion of saturated sample sizes in. *Qualitative Research*, *13*, 190–197. doi:10.1177/1468794112446106
- Østhus, S. (2012). Health effects of downsizing survival and job loss in Norway. *Social Science & Medicine*, 75, 946–953. doi:10.1016/j.socscimed.2012.04.036
- Østhus, S., & Mastekaasa, A. (2010). The impact of downsizing on remaining workers' sickness absence. *Social Science & Medicine*, 71, 1455–1462. doi:10.1016/j.socscimed.2010.06.045
- Palinkas, L. A., Aarons, G. A., Horwitz, S., Chamberlain, P., Hurlburt, M., & Landsverk,

- J. (2011). Mixed method designs in implementation research. *Administration and Policy in Mental Health and Mental Health Services Research*, *38*, 44–53. doi:10.1007/s10488-010-0314-z
- Parker, P. D., Martin, A. J., Colmar, S., & Liem, G. A. (2012). Teachers' workplace well-being: Exploring a process model of goal orientation, coping behavior, engagement, and burnout. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 28, 503–513. doi:10.1016/j.tate.2012.01.001
- Parks-Yancy, R. (2011). The impact of downsizing on the social capital resources and career prospects of African-American survivors. *Journal of African American Studies*, 15, 307–326. doi:10.1007/s12111-010-9147-9
- Parzefall, M.-R. (2012). A close call: Perceptions of alternative HR arrangements to layoffs. *Journal of Managerial Psychology*, 27, 799–813. doi:10.1108/02683941211280166
- Parzefall, M.-R., & Kuppelwieser, V. G. (2012). Understanding the antecedents, the outcomes and the mediating role of social capital: An employee perspective. *Human Relations*, 65, 447–472. doi:10.1177/0018726711431853
- Pfeffer, J. (2010). Building sustainable organizations: The human factor. *Academy of Management Perspectives*, 24(1), 34–45. doi:10.5465/AMP.2010.50304415
- Portney, L. G., & Watkins, M. P. (2009). Foundations of clinical research: Applications to practice (3rd ed.). Upper Saddle River, NJ: Pearson Education.
- Probst, T. M., & Ekore, J. O. (2010). An exploratory study of the costs of job insecurity in Nigeria. *International Studies of Management & Organization*, 40(1), 92–104.

- doi:10.2753/IMO0020-8825400106
- Probst, T. M., & Strand, P. (2010). Perceiving and responding to job insecurity: A workplace spirituality perspective. *Journal of Management, Spirituality & Religion*, 7, 135–156. doi:10.1080/14766081003746430
- Pruijt, H., & <u>Dérogée</u>, P. (2010). Employability and job security, friends or foes? The paradoxical reception of employacurity in the Netherlands. *Socio-Economic Review*, 8, 437–460. doi:10.1093/ser/mwq006
- Reinardy, S. (2011). Journalism's layoff survivors tap resources to remain satisfied.

 *Atlantic Journal of Communication, 19, 285–298.

 doi:10.1080/15456870.2011.623075
- Reisel, W. D., Probst, T. M., Chia, S.L., Maloles, C. M., & König, C. J. (2010). The effects of job insecurity on job satisfaction, organizational citizenship behavior, deviant behavior, and negative emotions of employees. *International Studies of Management & Organization*, 40(1), 74–91. doi:10.2753/IMO0020-8825400105
- Renko, M., Kroeck, K. G., & Bullough, A. (2012). Expectancy theory and nascent entrepreneurship. *Small Business Economics*, *39*, 667–684. doi:10.1007/s11187-011-9354-3
- Restubog, S. L. D., Bordia, P., & Bordia, S. (2011). Investigating the role of psychological contract breach on career success: Convergent evidence from two longitudinal studies. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, 79, 428–437. doi:10.1016/j.jvb.2011.01.006
- Richter, A., Näswall, K., & Sverke, M. (2010). Job insecurity and its relation to work—

- family conflict: Mediation with a longitudinal data set. *Economic and Industrial Democracy*, *31*, 265–280. doi:10.1177/0143831X09358370
- Rooney, D., Paulsen, N., Callan, V. J., Brabant, M., Gallois, C., & Jones, E. (2010). A new role for place identity in managing organizational change. *Management Communication Quarterly*, 24, 44–73. doi:10.1177/0893318909351434
- Roulston, K. (2010). *Reflective interviewing: A guide to theory and practice*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.
- Saif, M. I., Malik, M. I., & Awan, M. Z. (2011). Employee work satisfaction and work life balance: A Pakistani perspective. *Interdisciplinary Journal of Contemporary Research in Business*, *3*, 606–617. Retrieved from http://www.ijcrb.webs.com/
- Savage-Austin, A. R., & Honeycutt, A. (2011). Servant leadership: A phenomenological study of practices, experiences, organizational effectiveness, and barriers. *Journal of Business & Economics Research*, 9(1), 49-54. Retrieved from http://journals.cluteonline.com/index.php/JBER
- Schmitt, A., Borzillo, S., & Probst, G. (2012). Don't let knowledge walk away:

 Knowledge retention during employee downsizing. *Management Learning*, 43,
 53–74. doi:10.1177/1350507611411630
- Searle, R., Den Hartog, D. N., Weibel, A., Gillespie, N., Six, F., Hatzakis, T., & Skinner, D. (2011). Trust in the employer: The role of high-involvement work practices and procedural justice in European organizations. *The International Journal of Human Resource Management*, 22, 1069–1092.
 doi:10.1080/09585192.2011.556782

- Selye, H. (1936). A syndrome produced by diverse nocuous agents. *Nature*, *138*, 32. doi:10.1038/138032a0
- Selye, H. (1955). Stress and disease. *The laryngoscope*, 65, 500-514. doi:10.1288/00005537-195507000-00002
- Shah, N. (2011). A study of the relationship between organisational justice and employee readiness for change. *Journal of Enterprise Information Management*, 24, 224–236. doi:10.1108/17410391111122835
- Shenton, A. K. (2004). Strategies for ensuring trustworthiness in qualitative research projects. *Education for Information*, 22, 63–75. Retrieved from http://www.iospress.nl/journal/
- Siegel, D. S., & Simons, K. L. (2010). Assessing the effects of mergers and acquisitions on firm performance, plant productivity, and workers: New evidence from matched employer-employee data. *Strategic Management Journal*, *31*, 903-916. doi:10.1002/smj.843
- Silla, I., Gracia, F. J., Mañas, M. A., & Peiró, J. M. (2010). Job insecurity and employees' attitudes: The moderating role of fairness. *International Journal of Manpower*, 31, 449–465. doi:10.1108/01437721011057029
- Simon, M. (2006). *Recipes for success: Dissertation & scholarly research.* Dubuque, IA: Kendall / Hunt.
- Sinha, R., Shaham, Y., & Heilig, M. (2011). Translational and reverse translational research on the role of stress in drug craving and relapse. *Psychopharmacology*, 218(1), 69–82. doi:10.1007/s00213-011-2263-y

- Sitlington, H., & Marshall, V. (2011). Do downsizing decisions affect organisational knowledge and performance? *Management Decision*, 49, 116–129. doi:10.1108/00251741111094473
- Skaalvik, E. M., & Skaalvik, S. (2011). Teacher job satisfaction and motivation to leave the teaching profession: Relations with school context, feeling of belonging, and emotional exhaustion. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 27, 1029–1038. doi:10.1016/j.tate.2011.04.001
- Smith, V. (2010). Review article: Enhancing employability: Human, cultural, and social capital in an era of turbulent unpredictability. *Human Relations*, *63*, 279–300. doi:10.1177/0018726709353639
- Smollan, R. K. (2013). Trust in change managers: The role of affect. *Journal of Organizational Change Management*, 26, 725–747. doi:10.1108/JOCM-May-2012-0070
- Smollan, R., & Parry, K. (2011). Follower perceptions of the emotional intelligence of change leaders: A qualitative study. *Leadership*, 7, 435–462.

 doi:10.1177/1742715011416890
- Sousa, D. (2014). Validation in qualitative research: General aspects and specificities of the descriptive phenomenological method. *Qualitative Research in Psychology*, 11, 211-227. doi:10.1080/14780887.2013.853855
- Spangenburg, J. M. (2012). Organizational commitment in the wake of downsizing.

 **Journal of American Academy of Business, Cambridge, 17(2), 30–36. Retrieved from http://www.jaabc.com/

- Spector, B. (2010). *Implementing organizational change theory and practice* (2nd ed.).

 Upper Saddle River, NJ: Prentice Hall.
- Suri, H. (2011). Purposeful sampling in qualitative research synthesis. *Qualitative Research Journal*, 11(2), 63–75. doi:10.3316/QRJ1102063
- Thomas, E., & Magilvy, J. K. (2011). Qualitative rigor or research validity in qualitative research. *Journal for Specialists in Pediatric Nursing*, *16*, 151–155. doi:10.1111/j.1744-6155.2011.00283.x
- Toloie-Eshlaghy, A., Chitsaz, S., <u>Karimian</u>, L., & Charkhchi, R. (2011). A classification of qualitative research methods. *Research Journal of International Studies*, 20, 106-123. Retrieved from http://www.eurojournals.com/international_studies.htm
- Tomkins, L., & Eatough, V. (2013). The feel of experience: Phenomenological ideas for organizational research. *Qualitative Research in Organizations and Management:*An International Journal, 8, 258-275. doi:10.1108/QROM-04-2012-1060
- Tracy, S. J. (2010). Qualitative quality: Eight "big-tent" criteria for excellent qualitative research. *Qualitative Inquiry*, *16*, 837–851. doi:10.1177/1077800410383121
- Trevor, C. O., & Nyberg, A. J. (2008). Keeping your headcount when all about you are losing theirs: Downsizing, voluntary turnover rates, and the moderating role of HR practices. *Academy of Management Journal*, *51*, 259–276.

 doi:10.5465/AMJ.2008.31767250
- Tsai, P. C. F., & Yen, Y.-F. (2013). Development of institutional downsizing theory:

 Evidence from the MNC downsizing strategy and HRM practices in Taiwan.

 Total Quality Management & Business Excellence, 24(1), 1–15.

- doi:10.1080/14783363.2013.791118
- Turner, D. W., III. (2010). Qualitative interview design: A practical guide for novice investigators. *The Qualitative Report*, *15*, 754-760. Retrieved from http://www.nova.edu/ssss/QR/
- Ursin, H., & Eriksen, H. R. (2004). The cognitive activation theory of stress.

 *Psychoneuroendocrinology, 29, 567–592. doi:10.1016/S0306-4530(03)00091-X
- Ursin, H., & Eriksen, H. R. (2010). Cognitive activation theory of stress (CATS).

 Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews, 34, 877-881.

 doi:10.1016/j.neubiorev.2009.03.001
- U.S. Department of Labor, Bureau of Labor Statistics. (2013). Mass layoffs May 2013.Retrieved from http://www.bls.gov/news.release/pdf/mmls.pdf
- Vakola, M. (2013). Multilevel readiness to organizational change: A conceptual approach. *Journal of Change Management*, 13, 96–109.

 doi:10.1080/14697017.2013.768436
- Van den Broeck, A., Vansteenkiste, M., Lens, W., & De Witte, H. (2010). Unemployed individuals' work values and job flexibility: An explanation from expectancy-value theory and self-determination theory. *Applied Psychology: An International Review*, 59, 296–317. doi:10.1111/j.1464-0597.2009.00391.x
- Van Dierendonck, D., & Jacobs, G. (2012). Survivors and victims, a meta-analytical review of fairness and organizational commitment after downsizing. *British Journal of Management*, 23, 96–109. doi:10.1111/j.1467-8551.2010.00724.x
- Van Teijlingen, E., & Hundley, V. (2001). The importance of pilot studies. Social

- Research Update, 35, 1–4. Retrieved from http://sru.soc.surrey.ac.uk/
- Vicente-Lorente, J. D., & Zúñiga-Vicente, J. Á. (2012). Effects of process and product-oriented innovations on employee downsizing. *International Journal of Manpower*, 33, 383–403. doi:10.1108/01437721211243750
- Vroom, V. H. (1964). Work and motivation. New York, NY: Wiley.
- Wang, S., & Noe, R. A. (2010). Knowledge sharing: A review and directions for future research. *Human Resource Management Review*, 20, 115–131.
 doi:10.1016/j.hrmr.2009.10.001
- Waraich, S. B., & Bhardwaj, G. (2012). Perception of workforce reduction scenario and coping strategies of survivors: An empirical study. *South Asian Journal of Management*, 19(3), 34–49. Retrieved from www.sajm-amdisa.org/
- Whitman, D. S., Caleo, S., Carpenter, N. C., Horner, M. T., & Bernerth, J. B. (2012).
 Fairness at the collective level: A meta-analytic examination of the consequences and boundary conditions of organizational justice climate. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 97, 776-791. doi:10.1037/a0028021
- Whitman, D. S., VanRoddy, D. L., & Viswesvaran, C. (2010). Satisfaction, citizenship behaviors, and performance in work units: A meta-analysis of collective construct relations. *Personnel Psychology*, *63*, 41-81. doi:10.1111/j.1744-6570.2009.01 162.x
- Wolff, E. N. (2012). Downsizing in US manufacturing, 1967 to 1997. *International Journal of the Economics of Business*, 19, 315–335.

 doi:10.1080/13571516.2012.684928

- Ye, J., Cardon, M. S., & Rivera, E. (2012). A mutuality perspective of psychological contracts regarding career development and job security. *Journal of Business Research*, 65, 294–301. doi:10.1016/j.jbusres.2011.03.006
- Yousafzai, S. Y., Foxall, G. R., & Pallister, J. G. (2010). Explaining internet banking behavior: Theory of reasoned action, theory of planned behavior, or technology acceptance model? *Journal of Applied Social Psychology*, 40, 1172–1202. doi:10.1111/j.1559-1816.2010.00615.x
- Zikmund, W., & Babin, B. (2012). *Essentials of marketing research*. (5th ed.). Mason, OH: South-Western Publications.

Appendix A: Informed Consent Form

CONSENT FORM

You are invited to take part in a research study exploring factors that may contribute to employee voluntary attrition, following the announcement of layoff intentions by their employers. You are being asked to participate in this study because you were a member of a craft union and had attained journey-level status prior to the announcement of layoffs. You were employed by the organization for a minimum of 4 years prior to layoff procedures, and you severed employment of your own volition. This form is part of the process called "informed consent" to allow you to understand this study before deciding to take part. This study is being conducted by a researcher named George Lightfoot, who is a doctoral student at Walden University.

Background Information:

The purpose of this study is to explore the lived experiences of employees regarding the announcement of layoffs at their places of employment and their subsequent decisions to seek employment outside of their downsizing organizations.

Procedures:

If you agree to be in this study, you will be asked to:

- 1. Participate in an individual interview regarding your experience and reflections on the layoff procedures and your subsequent departure from the organization. This interview will take approximately 90 minutes to complete.
- 2. Permit the interview to be audio taped for analysis by me.
- 3. Review the transcript of your interview for accuracy.

Voluntary Nature of Study:

Your participation in this study is voluntary. This means that I will respect your decision of whether or not you want to be in the study. No one will treat you differently if you decide not to be in the study. If you decide to join the study now, you can still change your mind during the study. If you feel stressed during the study, you may stop at any time. All responses will remain confidential. You may skip any questions that you feel are too personal.

Risks and Benefits of Being in the Study:

Being in this type of study involves some risk of the minor discomforts that can be encountered in daily life, such as fatigue, stress, or becoming upset. Being in this study would not pose risk to your safety or wellbeing. The interview will involve a detailed discussion of your lived experiences during the layoff initiatives and your subsequent decision to change employers. This study could potentially benefit organizational leaders considering layoff procedures by providing an in-depth employee perspective regarding voluntary employee attrition during layoffs that was not previously available.

Compensation:

Although participants in this study will not be compensated, your participation is greatly appreciated.

Confidentiality:

Any information you provide will be entirely confidential. The researcher will not use your information for any purposes outside of this research project. Also, the researcher will not include your name or any information that could identify you in any reports of the study. Data will be kept secure in a locked safe, maintained at the researcher's residence, for the duration of the research. Data will be kept for a period of at least 5 years, as required by Walden University.

Contacts and Questions:

You may ask any questions you have now. If you have questions later, you may contact me, the researcher, via telephone at (715-498-2107) or email (george.lightfoot@waldenu.edu).

If you want to talk privately about your rights as a participant, you can call Dr. Leilani Endicott. She is the Walden University representative who can discuss this with you. Her phone number is 1-800-925-3368, extension 3121210. The researcher will give you a copy of this form to keep. Walden University's approval number for this study is <u>06-30-14-0305301</u> and it expires on <u>June 29, 2015</u>.

Statement of Consent:

I have read the above information and I feel I understand the study well enough to make a decision about my involvement. I understand that I am agreeing to the terms described above.

Date of consent	
Printed Name	
Participant's Title	
Participant's Signature	
Researcher's Signature	

Please print or save this consent form for your records.

Appendix B: Interview Questions

To gain a richer contextual understanding of the lived experience of the survivors, I will ask participants to relate their experience during the period before the announcement of layoffs and after the announcement of layoffs.

- 1. In as much detail as possible, please recall a typical day at work prior to announcements of a possibility of layoffs.
- 2. In as much detail as possible, please recall the day of layoff announcements.
- 3. What thoughts crossed your mind about the organization as management made the announcements and you realized who would be released?
- 4. In as much detail as possible, please recall the day at work, after the announcements of layoff, in which you decided to leave.
- 5. What factors led to your decision to leave?
- 6. What was the tipping point at which you decided to leave?
- 7. Based upon your experiences, what, if anything, could management have done to change your decision to voluntarily resign?

Appendix C: Interview Protocol Form

Interview Protocol

nstitution:
nterviewee (Craft and Name):
nterviewer:
Interview Background
ost Interview Comments or Leads:

Voluntary attrition following layoff procedures Interviews

Introductory Protocol

To facilitate note-taking, I would like to audio record our conversations today. This was addressed as part of the informed consent process. Essentially, this document states that: (a) all information will be held confidential, (b) your participation is voluntary and you may stop at any time if you feel uncomfortable, and (c) I do not intend to inflict any harm. For your information, only I will be privy to the recordings which will be eventually destroyed after they are transcribed. Thank you for your agreeing to participate.

I have planned this interview to last no longer than 90 minutes. During this time, I have a few questions that I would like to cover. You should have ample time to answer all questions in as much detail as you wish without fear of interruption.

Introduction

You are being asked to participate in this study because you were a member of a craft union and had attained journey-level status prior to the announcement of layoffs. You were employed by the organization for a minimum of 4 years prior to layoff procedures, and you severed employment of your own volition. The purpose of my study is to explore the lived experiences of employees regarding the announcement of layoffs at their place of employment and their decision to seek employment outside of the downsizing organization.

Interviewee Background
How long were you
in a craft position?
at the institution?

Interview Questions:

As if recounting an experience for a listener who must recall and convey the event in full detail for others,

- Please recall a typical day at work prior to announcements of a possibility of layoffs.
- Please recall the day of layoff announcements.
- What thoughts crossed your mind about the organization as management made the announcements and you realized who would be released?
- Please recall the day at work, after the announcements of layoff, in which you decided to leave.
- What factors led to your decision to leave?
- What was the tipping point at which you decided to leave?
- Based upon your experiences, what, if anything, could management have done to change your decision to voluntarily resign?

Post Interview Comments and/or Observations:

Appendix D: Themes of Study

<u>Theme</u>	#of Participants	% of Participants
Job Insecurity	19	95
Communication	16	80
Violation of Implied	15	75
Psychological Contract	15	75
Trust	13	65
Employee Perception of	15	75
Management	13	13
Mental & Emotional	18	90
Entitativity	19	95
Training & Education	10	50
Organizational process	5	25
issues	5	25

Appendix E: Letter of Cooperation

Letter of Cooperation from a Community Research Partner

Community Research Partner Name: Local 420

Contact Information: Mike Seeley

Phone: 715 446-3794

Email: Seeley 1019 @gmail.com

Date 06/23/14

Dear George Lightfoot,

Based on my review of your research proposal, I give permission for you to conduct the

study entitled Talent Retention in Organizations Facing Staff Reductions via Layoffs

within the membership of Local 420 at the Weston facility. As part of this study, I authorize you to contact any members who joined the union as a member of a craft group durig the past ten years. Individuals' participation will be voluntary and at their own discretion.

We understand that our organization's responsibilities include: Allowing you access to the speak with union members. We reserve the right to withdraw from the study at any time if our circumstances change.

I confirm that I am authorized to approve research in this setting.

I understand that the data collected will remain entirely confidential and may not be provided to anyone outside of the research team without permission from the Walden University IRB.

Sincerely, Mike Seeley

Mike Seeley
Chief Steward Weston
Muchael Jecley

Curriculum Vitae

George E. Lightfoot

Doctor of Business Administration 2014

Specialization - Leadership

Walden University, Minneapolis, Minnesota, USA

Study: Talent Retention in Organizations Facing Staff Reductions via Layoffs

IBAM 2014

Lightfoot, G.E. (2014, October). *The IBAM story: A review*. Full presentation paper presented at the annual meeting of the Institute of Behavioral and Applied Management, Orlando, FL.

Master of Business Administration 2010

Specialization - Strategic Management and Leadership

Western Governors University, Salt Lake City UT.

Capstone Project: Threats to Long-term Viability of Coal Fired Power-Plants

Bachelor of Science 2004

Concentration - Business Administration

University of Wisconsin, Stevens Point, Stevens Point WI,